

# REPORT OF THE UNITED NATIONS SCIENTIFIC COMMITTEE ON THE EFFECTS OF ATOMIC RADIATION

**GENERAL ASSEMBLY** 

OFFICIAL RECORDS : TWENTY-FIRST SESSION SUPPLEMENT No. 14 (A/6314)

UNITED NATIONS



**GENERAL ASSEMBLY** 

OFFICIAL RECORDS : TWENTY-FIRST SESSION SUPPLEMENT No. 14 (A/6314)



4177UNITED NATIONSNew York, 1966

### Annex A

# **RADIATION FROM NATURAL SOURCES**

#### CONTENTS

I.	INTRODUCTION	Paragraphs 1–5
II.	COSMIC RAYS	6-49
	Introduction	5-13
	Geomagnetic effects	14-21
	Energy spectrum of primary radiation	22
	Cosmic rays in the atmosphere	23–28
	Radio-nuclides produced by cosmic rays	26-28
	Cosmic-ray neutrons	29-38
	Flux densities and energy spectra	32-38
	Cosmic-ray dose rates	39-47
	Neutron dose rates	41-47
	Conclusions	48-49
II.	TERRESTRIAL RADIO-ACTIVITY	50-90
	Soil	50-51
	External radiation	52-65
	Neutrons	61–65
	Natural activity in waters	66-72
	Oceans	66
	Fresh waters	67-72
	The natural radio-activity of air	73–90
	Horizontal distribution and variability	81-84
	Measured concentrations of natural radio-	
	activity	85-90
	Long-lived decay products of radon-222	<del>89</del> -90

#### I. Introduction

1. Radiation from natural sources was examined both in the  $1958^1$  and in the  $1962^2$  reports of the Committee. Its importance lies in the fact that the human species has always been exposed to natural radiation at relatively stable average levels and that doses from natural radiation are being used by the Committee as a standard of comparison with those received from other, man-made, sources.

2. The present review is essentially an updating of the earlier ones and should be read in conjunction with them. The relative emphasis here given to individual topics—as, for instance, neutron doses and radio-activity in air—thus reflects the amount of new information which has become available since 1962 rather than their actual importance in the over-all study of natural radio-activity. Much of the new information has been the result of improvements in instrumentation which have been stimulated by the study of environmental contamination.

3. Natural radiation arises from two sources: cosmic rays, entering the atmosphere from outer space, and radio-active materials in the earth's crust. These materials were already present when the earth was formed,

		Poragraphs
IV.	THE TRANSFER OF ENVIRONMENTAL RADIO-	
	ACTIVITY TO MAN	91–148
	Introduction	91–95
	Intake by man	96-116
	Water	97-103
	Typical levels of natural radio-nuclides	
	in water	99-101
	Areas with high concentrations of radium	
	and radon in drinking water	102-103
	Foodstuffs	104-113
	Areas of typical "normal" levels of intake	104-109
	Special food chain mechanisms and areas	
	of high natural radio-activity	110-113
	Air	114-116
	Levels in man	117–133
	Bi <sup>210</sup> -Po <sup>210</sup> chain	118-125
	Normal levels of natural radio-activity in	
	man	126-133
	Areas of high natural radio-activity and	
	special food chain mechanisms	130-133
	Doses from internal irradiation by natural	
	radio-active nuclides	134-148
v.	RECAPITULATION OF DOSE RATES	149
		Page
	TABLES	28
	References	36

or, in the case of shorter-lived radio-isotopes, they are continually being produced by radio-active decay or nuclear reactions. Some radio-isotopes are produced by the interactions of secondary cosmic rays, mainly neutrons, with atmospheric gases and, to a small extent, by the interactions of the cosmic rays that reach the earth's surface.

4. Owing to the varying content of natural radioactive elements in the soil and the underlying rock, the intensity of external radiation and the levels of radioactive intake by man vary from place to place. Because of limited geographical representation and of the obvious limitation of sampling, the arithmetic means calculated from the most frequent values were accepted, but they may not be strictly representative for the whole world population.

5. It is obvious that arbitrary criteria are used to separate typical situations from those where background radiation is considered elevated either because of local abundance of radio-active material or because of special food chain mechanisms. In the present review, only those situations will be described as non-typical in which at least one of the factors contributing to the natural irradiation of man is higher than typical by one order of magnitude or more.

# II. Cosmic rays

#### INTRODUCTION

6. Cosmic radiation consists of primary radiation entering the atmosphere from outer space and of secondary cosmic radiation produced by interactions of the primary radiation with nuclei in the atmosphere. Most measurements of the primary component have been carried out at atmospheric depths of 15 g/cm<sup>2</sup> or more (up to about 30 km), but extrapolations to outer space as well as direct measurements indicate that the primary component consists of highly energetic, positively charged nuclei, with protons constituting 83-89 per cent of the primary radiation, alpha particles 10-15 per cent, leaving 1-2 per cent for nuclei having  $Z \ge 3$ and for some energetic electrons. About one positively charged particle/cm<sup>2</sup> × second with an average energy of 2 × 10<sup>3</sup> MeV arrives at the top of the atmosphere.<sup>3-12</sup>

7. This primary radiation is incident from all directions. The major portion of the primary cosmic radiation is of galactic origin. Low energy particles of solar origin in the 10 MeV range may reach the earth during large sunflares. The contribution of solar particles to the total cosmic-ray intensity in the lower atmosphere is negligible, however, if averaged over long periods. Slight annual modulations of cosmic-ray flux densities, as well as variations during magnetic solar storms, have been observed.<sup>13-17</sup>

8. The secondary cosmic-ray component comprises many types of radiation produced by nuclear collisions of the primary particles with nitrogen, oxygen or argon nuclei mainly in the upper atmosphere. At about sea level, this secondary radiation is usually divided into three separate groups: the muon, the nucleon, and the electron component. Some properties of the main secondary particles in cosmic radiation are summarized in table I.

9. The muon component. Muons (previously called  $\mu$ -mesons) are the daughters of short-lived pions. The pions result from the interaction of high energy protons with atmospheric nuclei. The maximum muon flux density occurs at an atmospheric depth of about 150 g/cm<sup>2</sup> (usually at a height of about 12 km). Ionization due to cosmic rays detected at low altitudes is mainly due to the penetrating muons (about 70 per cent).<sup>18, 19</sup> The muon component still contributes about 50 per cent to the ionization from cosmic rays at an altitude of 3 km, and its relative share continues to decrease with altitude.

10. The nucleon component. The nucleon component consists of nuclear fragments, mainly neutrons and protons.<sup>7, 12, 20, 21</sup> It multiplies by cascade processes involving nuclear spallation in the atmosphere, whereby the secondary fragments knocked out of atomic nuclei possess high enough energy to produce still further fragments in subsequent nuclear interactions. As nitrogen and oxygen consist of an equal number of protons and neutrons, the initial nucleonic cascade in air consists of approximately equal numbers of protons and neutrons with high energies. Below about 500 MeV, however, ionization losses of protons in the air start competing with nuclear absorption; protons are therefore progressively removed from the cascade which, below a few hundred MeV, consists mainly of neutrons.

11. As neutron emission is the most probable deexcitation reaction when nitrogen and oxygen are excited to energies of about 8 MeV, neutrons in the range of a few MeV will be evaporated isotropically during the terminal process in nucleonic cascades.<sup>21, 22</sup> About 20 per cent of the energy from the incident primary radiation is transferred to nucleonic cascades. Most of it, however, is absorbed before reaching the earth's surface. Slow protons are stopped by ionizations, and slow neutrons are captured mainly in nitrogen, forming  $C^{14}$ .

12. The electron-photon component. The electronphoton component includes electrons, positrons and photons. They originate mainly from the electronpositron-photon cascade resulting from the decay of the extremely short-lived neutral  $\pi^{\circ}$  meson produced when high energy primary radiation interacts with atmospheric nuclei. The spontaneous decay of muons also contributes some high energy electrons to this component.

13. When cosmic rays are measured, the neutrons are usually dealt with separately from the other components. The latter, including gamma rays, are further subdivided according to their penetration power. The "soft" component consists of the radiations that are completely absorbed in about 15 cm of lead. At low altitudes, this component includes the bulk of the electrons, gammas, and protons, as well as a few slow muons. The "hard" component, some of which is only slightly attenuated by 15 cm of lead. may be able to penetrate much thicker layers. The "hard" component at sea level consists mainly of muons and of high energy protons.

#### GEOMAGNETIC EFFECTS

14. An approximation to the external geomagnetic field is obtained by assuming a magnetic dipole located 340 km off the centre of the earth, with poles pointing towards 80.1°N, 82.7°W, and 76.3°S, 121.2°E. This terrestrial magnetic field acts as a momentum selector for the primary charged particles. Consequently, the cosmic ray flux entering the upper atmosphere is latitude dependent as well as directional.<sup>7-9</sup>

15. The net result of these effects is that particles with the lowest energies reach the earth only in the vicinity of the geomagnetic poles, whereas those with energies in excess of about  $6 \times 10^4$  MeV can reach the earth anywhere.<sup>23-28</sup>

16. The minimum momentum that an incident charged particle must possess in order to reach the earth's atmosphere despite the deflecting influence of its magnetic field is called the threshold rigidity. It varies with geomagnetic latitude as  $\cos^4\phi$  and depends on the angle of incidence of the charged particle.

17. The threshold rigidity for vertically incident charged primaries at the geomagnetic equator is about  $5.7 \times 10^7$  gauss  $\times$  cm corresponding to a proton energy of  $1.7 \times 10^4$  MeV.<sup>7, 27</sup> However, the intensity of the ionization due to cosmic rays measured at sea level is only about 10 per cent higher near the geomagnetic poles than the ionization recorded at the equator. Thus, about 90 per cent of the ionization detected at sea level results from primaries which had enough momentum to arrive at the earth's geomagnetic equator. The primaries of lower momentum are relatively ineffective in producing penetrating muons.

18. The latitude variations are more pronounced in the case of the nucleonic component, as shown in figure 1. This latitude effect of neutrons (and of secondary protons) demonstrates that the nucleonic component is mainly produced by low energy primaries that are prevented by the earth's magnetic field from reaching the earth between 50°N and 50°S but that



Figure 1. Geomagnetic latitude dependence of the ionizing component and neutrons at sea level<sup>9, 27, 28</sup>

do reach the polar regions. Pion production, on the other hand, predominates at higher energies (above a few  $10^4$  MeV) and therefore is much less affected by the geomagnetic field.

19. The apparent plateau region for the secondary components at high geomagnetic latitudes has been extensively studied.<sup>4, 11, 13-17</sup> Atmospheric attenuation due to ionization losses, and insufficient sensitivity of some experimental equipment, might partially account for it. However, there seems to be a real decline in the flux density of primary particles of galactic origin for energies less than  $2 \times 10^4$  MeV per nucleon. Low energy primaries reaching the upper atmosphere are mostly of solar origin.

20. As the geomagnetic poles do not coincide with the earth poles and as the magnetic dipole representation of the geomagnetic field itself is a rather crude approximation which needs correction terms (higher magnetic moments) to account for the actual energy cut-off of primary cosmic rays, it is easy to explain the slight longitudinal effect observed in the relative intensities (up to 15 per cent) of cosmic radiation. Temporal distortions of the geomagnetic field due to solar activity are also observed.

21. It should be emphasized that the geomagnetic latitude effect revealed by the secondary cosmic radiations should be wholly attributed to the primary component. Owing to their comparatively short trajectory from the point of production in the atmosphere to ground level, no appreciable geomagnetic deviation is expected for the secondary charged particles.

#### ENERGY SPECTRUM OF PRIMARY RADIATION

22. Figure 2 represents the integral energy spectrum of primary protons.<sup>6-12, 20, 20, 30</sup> The integral energy spectrum per nucleon of the total primary radiation is similar within the experimental accuracy. The latitude-sensitive portion of cosmic radiation up to about  $6 \times 10^4$  MeV—the threshold rigidity for positively charged protons from the east at the magnetic equator—is often referred to as "low energy radiation". As low energy particles are much more abundant, most of the cosmic-ray energy will reach polar regions where,

therefore, most of the secondary rays will be produced. The term, "very low energy radiation", is reserved for primaries below  $1.7 \times 10^3$  MeV, whose abundance undergoes seasonal changes correlated with solar events.

#### COSMIC RAYS IN THE ATMOSPHERE

23. Figure 3 shows the altitude variations of the main components of cosmic radiation in the atmosphere.<sup>7-9, 20, 20</sup> Production of the secondary particles



Figure 2. Integral energy spectrum of the primary cosmic-ray protons<sup>9, 10</sup>



Figure 3. The vertical flux densities for the main components of cosmic radiation as a function of atmospheric depth (at geomagnetic latitude of  $45^{\circ}N$ )<sup>7</sup>

increases with atmospheric depth up to about  $150 \text{ g/cm}^2$  (down to about 12 km) where the maximum flux density of cosmic rays is found. Below this altitude, particle loss through capture, ionization and muon decay predominates over production, and the various secondary cosmic-ray components decrease exponentially with decreasing altitude. The primary radiation carries almost all the energy above 25 km, while the muon component predominates below 3 km.

24. Atmospheric effects depending on barometric pressure and temperature are known to affect somewhat the cosmic-ray intensity at sea level, especially the muon component. The muon flux density reaching sea level depends on the thickness of the atmosphere below the point of production, and, because some muons decay in flight, will also depend on their path length in the atmosphere. These local changes are of the order of a few per cent and will not be discussed any further.

25. The vertical component of cosmic radiation is of relatively large significance at sea level, as atmos-

pheric absorption of secondary radiation and muon decay are minimal for vertical incidence. The east-west effect being small compared to the absorption effect at various angles, the lower threshold rigidity of particles coming from the west does not compensate for the additional attenuation of the secondary radiation in the atmosphere. For radiation from the east, the higher rigidity threshold and atmospheric attenuation both operate to diminish the secondary flux arriving at sea level.

## Radio-nuclides produced by cosmic rays

26. Some of the nuclear fragments resulting from spallation of atmospheric nuclei during the nucleonic cascade process are radio-active.<sup>31-38</sup> About 1.7 spallations/cm<sup>2</sup> × second is the global average induced by cosmic rays. They occur in atmospheric gases in proportion to their relative abundance (nitrogen : oxygen : argon ~ 76.5 : 22.5 : 1). The distribution of nuclide production rates within the atmosphere, taking into account the energy spectrum of the nucleon component of cosmic radiation, was calculated by Lal.<sup>32, 39</sup> Most radio-nuclides are produced in the stratosphere by low energy neutrons, their rate of production being approximately proportional to the neutron flux density and subject to its pronounced latitude dependence.

27. The main radio-nuclides produced by cosmic rays are listed in table II with some of their nuclear properties, calculated production rates and activity concentrations in the lower troposphere.  $C^{14}$  is mainly formed by the  $N^{14}(n, p)C^{14}$  capture reaction with atmospheric nitrogen. About two-thirds of the neutrons produced by cosmic rays are removed through this process from the atmosphere.

28. The production rates of radio-active spallation fragments from oxygen and nitrogen  $(H^3, Be^7 \text{ and } Be^{10})$  exceed by far the production rate of fragments due to argon spallation. Cosmic rays which reach the earth's surface can interact and produce radio-active nuclides, but these have extremely low activity and are unimportant in comparison with other nuclides of natural origin.

#### COSMIC-RAY NEUTRONS

29. As neutrons usually elude detection when ionization chambers are used, this nuclear component of cosmic radiation should be assessed separately. Cosmicray neutrons are produced by two kinds of reactions.<sup>5, 23, 28, 41-49</sup> First, neutrons are knocked out of nuclei as a result of nuclear collision of high energy cosmic rays. These neutrons have energies from a few MeV up to more than 1,000 MeV. A larger source of neutrons in the atmosphere, however, is represented by evaporation neutrons which have an energy distribution peaked at about 1 MeV.<sup>12, 21, 23, 43, 50, 52</sup> The evaporation process may account for about 80 per cent of the atmospheric neutron flux density according to estimates derived by Hess *et al.*<sup>44</sup>

30. Neutrons produced in the atmosphere will eventually either leak out of the upper atmosphere into space or disappear through absorption. Atmospheric absorption occurs largely through  $N^{14}(n, p)C^{14}$  capture reactions after the neutrons have been slowed down by elastic and inelastic collisions in some 150 g/cm<sup>2</sup> of air. A stationary condition in time is thus maintained where the neutron flux density in the atmosphere is proportional to the neutron production rate at a somewhat higher altitude.

31. Owing to the low flux density of neutrons produced by cosmic rays at sea level, most measurements concerning the neutron component were carried out at various heights in the atmosphere within the equilibrium region, below 150 g/cm<sup>2</sup> (up to 12 km) where the energy spectrum of neutrons is essentially constant.<sup>28, 41-58</sup> From these measurements, estimates of neutron fluxes at sea level were obtained through extrapolations. It is, however, difficult in making such extrapolations to allow for the actual situation that obtains at sea level because of the presence of an interphase and of backscatter with a consequent breakdown of the atmospheric equilibrium conditions.

# Flux densities and energy spectra

32. A major limitation in comparing the results of different experimenters is the interdependence between the energy spectrum, which is assumed, and the absolute neutron flux density that is derived from the measurements. Each detector is sensitive in a limited energy range only, and its sensitivity is often energy dependent.<sup>41</sup> Thus, the interpretation of counting rates obtained through detectors of different kinds presupposes a detailed knowledge of the energy spectrum of cosmic-ray neutrons.

33. Figure 4 shows the cosmic-ray neutron energy spectrum in the equilibrium region as derived by Hess *et al.*<sup>44, 52</sup> They used a set of detectors sensitive to different energy ranges from thermal energies up to about  $10^4$  MeV. Their extrapolation to sea level yielded a flux density of  $4 \times 10^{-2}$  n/cm<sup>2</sup> × second, of which 15 per cent were between 1 and 10 MeV, 75 per cent had lower energies, and about 10 per cent were above 10 MeV.

34. Miyake *et al.*<sup>43</sup> obtained an energy spectrum of cosmic-ray neutrons from 1 to 15 MeV by observing recoil protons by means of a high pressure cloud chamber filled with hydrogen. Their derived energy spectrum for 1 eV to  $10^4$  MeV neutrons is in good agreement with figure 4, especially above 10 MeV and in the eV region.

35. Another calculation of the equilibrium spectrum of neutrons in the atmosphere up to energies of 20 MeV was performed by Newkirk.<sup>51</sup> This spectrum also differs from Hess' spectrum mainly in the energy range of 0.1 to 4 MeV, and thus agrees better with other measurements.<sup>53, 55</sup>



Figure 4. The equilibrium neutron flux density versus energy at sea level (44°N)<sup>44</sup> (the assumed spectra of the two neutron sources are also shown)

36. Subsequent workers arrived at lower estimates for the total neutron flux density.<sup>49, 55-59</sup> The lower values might partly be due to the special care taken to minimize neutron production in the instruments themselves and in the surrounding materials. In particular, lightweight detection equipment flown with balloons was used instead of heavier aircraft-borne detectors.

37. Kastner et al.<sup>60</sup> using a liquid scintillator, reported a flux density of  $4.5 \times 10^{-3} \text{ n/cm}^2 \times \text{second}$ for neutrons with energies from 1 to 10 MeV as measured directly at an altitude of 180 metres. They suggested a total neutron flux density at sea level (41°N) of about 10<sup>-2</sup> n/cm<sup>2</sup> × second, 15-25 per cent of which are in the energy range 1 to 10 MeV, and about 70 per cent have lower energies.

38. It seems reasonable to follow the suggestion of Kastner *et al.*<sup>60</sup> and to assume the value of  $10^{-2} \text{ n/cm}^2 \times \text{second}$  as the total neutron flux density at sea level. A lower value of  $0.54 \times 10^{-2} \text{ n/cm}^2 \times \text{second}$  at sea level as given by Haynes,<sup>58</sup> was recently used as a basis for dose estimates.<sup>61</sup>

#### COSMIC-RAY DOSE RATES<sup>a</sup>

39. In the 1962 report,<sup>2</sup> the dose rate to soft tissue due to the ionizing component of cosmic rays at sea level at middle latitude was estimated as 28 mrad/year. Recent reported values generally agree with this figure.<sup>18, 19, 62-66</sup> Table III lists the reported values in ion pairs/cm<sup>3</sup> × second as well as in mrad/year.

40. Recent surveys<sup>18</sup> confirmed the altitude dependence of the ionizing component as discussed in the 1962 report. Muons are the main contributors to absorbed dose at low altitudes (some 80 per cent of the

- (a) The kinetic energy of the secondary charged particles produced per unit mass of soft tissue of approximate composition  $(H_{40} C_5 O_8 N)_n$ , in the case of indirectly ionizing radiations (neutrons, photons and other uncharged particles):
- (b) The energy deposited per unit mass in matter of the same composition as given in (a), in the case of directly ionizing radiations (all charged particles).These quantities are obtained when the absorbed energy is

These quantities are obtained when the absorbed energy is computed from the appropriate interaction cross sections for the incident radiation spectrum. They will also be obtained within a few per cent, if the absorbed dose is determined in a small tissue-equivalent detector having a wall of sufficient thickness to establish secondary charged particle equilibrium. In most instances, the "dose" thus determined will differ by less than a factor of two from the maximum dose in a human phantom. It is recommend that the abware definitions do not conform

It is recognized that the above definitions do not conform with recently recommended usage.<sup>69</sup> In particular, (a) defines tissue kerma rather than the absorbed dose.<sup>68</sup> This departure from rigorous terminology is necessitated by the fact that most of the literature sources use this approach and by the absence of an acceptable term for (b).

The relative biological effectiveness (RBE) of any radiation depends not only on its type and quality but also on the effect under study and on other factors, such as dose, dose rate and the value of physiological parameters. This is because, even when equal amounts of different radiations are absorbed in any tissue, their effect is usually different as a result of differences in the microscopic distribution of the absorbed energy.<sup>67</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> The "dose" concept. The interaction between radiation and matter results in a variety of processes that include absorption, scattering and the production of secondary radiations. Hence, when the human body is exposed to radiation, the distribution of absorbed energy is usually not uniform. Although such quantities as the surface dose, the maximum dose and the average dose can therefore differ appreciably depending on the nature, energy and direction of the incident radiation, it is frequently desirable to utilize a single numerical index to specify the degree of irradiation. This is usually termed the "dose" and expressed in the unit "rad" or its submultiples (mrad, etc.). The usual meaning is the one that will be adopted here when the term "dose" is employed without further specification. It corresponds to

ionizing component according to Lillicrap,<sup>19</sup> 70 per cent according to Lowder and Beck<sup>18</sup>).

### Neutron dose rates

41. On the basis of Hess' energy spectrum<sup>44, 52</sup> and the usual factor to convert flux densities to dose rates,<sup>61, 70, 71</sup> 10<sup>-2</sup>n/cm<sup>2</sup> × second is assumed to correspond to a dose rate of 0.7 mrad/year. However, this value is considered to be an over-estimate, since the spectrum derived by Newkirk<sup>51</sup> gives a lower dose rate for the same total flux density of neutrons. As most of the other experimental values for flux densities range from 0.4 to  $1.5 \times 10^{-2}$ n/cm × second,<sup>53, 55, 57, 58, 60</sup> one obtains a range from 0.3 mrad/year to 1.1 mrad/year for the neutron dose rate at sea level.

42. Neutron flux densities, and to a lesser extent the energy spectrum, are latitude dependent. Thus, assuming 0.7 mrad/year at 41°N, slightly higher dose rates will be encountered near polar regions,<sup>57, 61</sup> whereas at the equator the neutron dose rate might be about 30 per cent lower or approximately 0.5 mrad/year.

43. Correction factors. A number of factors need to be considered when estimating radiation dose rates to human tissue (outdoors or in buildings) from an established neutron flux density in air with a known energy distribution. Owing to the abundance of hydrogen atoms in the human body, neutrons produced in the atmosphere lose their energy faster in traversing 1 g/cm<sup>2</sup> of tissue than in traversing 1 g/cm<sup>2</sup> of air.<sup>72-76</sup>

44. Practically all neutrons entering the human body with energies below 5 MeV lose their energies by elastic collisions with hydrogen and are finally absorbed by  $H(n, \gamma)D$  or  $N^{14}(n, p)C^{14}$  reactions. The neutron dose decreases rapidly with increasing depth<sup>71, 75</sup> and at 10 cm beneath the surface the dose is about one-third to one-tenth of that at the skin, depending on the energy and isotropy of the neutrons.

45. As neutrons lose on the average about half of their energy in the first collision with a hydrogen nucleus, neutrons of higher energy (above 5 MeV) lose significantly more of their energy in the human body than in the same mass of air (or other nonhydrogenous materials). However, neutrons above 5 MeV are relatively rare in the equilibrium spectrum of air, thus limiting this additional contribution to human tissue dose to 20 per cent at most of the neutron dose.

46. Neutron production in the human body must also be considered. One may assume that the cross sections per atom for the production of evaporation neutrons in the body (oxygen, carbon) are comparable with those in air (oxygen, nitrogen). The neutron component which is responsible for most of this terminal stage in the nuclear cascade leading to evaporation neutrons has a significantly shorter mean free path in the body than in air. More neutrons will therefore reach this final stage of evaporation interactions in the body than in an equivalent mass of air, thus tending to raise the average tissue dose received from neutrons.

47. As to the shielding by buildings and the computation of neutron dose indoors, tissue equivalent material might be as likely to add somewhat to the dose as to shield part of it, because of the scattering effects and the possibility of higher production rates in these materials as mentioned above. Heavy construction materials, such as lead and iron, tend to add to the neutron background.<sup>22, 77-79</sup> Thus, it seems unjustified to allow for the shielding effect on neutron doses unless detailed knowledge on the composition of the building materials is available.

#### Conclusions

48. The contribution of the ionizing component of cosmic rays at sea level was estimated in the 1962 report as 28 mrad/year at middle latitudes, which is also the best value agreed upon lately.<sup>18, 63, 65</sup> This dose rate of ionizing radiation is mainly delivered by muons<sup>19</sup> and is subject to the slight variations due to latitude effects which may lower the dose rate by about 10 per cent near the equator. The total dose rate approximately doubles for every 1,500-metre increase in altitude for the first few kilometres.<sup>2, 18, 64</sup> The relative importance of the nucleonic component as compared to the muon component increases with altitude. These facts will be of importance in assessing doses received at high altitudes, including space flights and other high altitude flights.<sup>61</sup>

49. Revised data on cosmic-ray neutron flux densities indicate that, without allowing for shielding by building structures and for screening by body tissues, the corresponding absorbed dose is 0.7 mrad/year (range 0.3-1.1 mrad/year) in temperate and polar regions, while in equatorial regions it is likely to be around 0.5 mrad/year. This value may be compared with the dose rate of 2 mrad/year which can be inferred from the estimate given in the 1962 report.

# III. Terrestrial radio-activity

# Soil

50. Practically all the natural environmental radiation of terrestrial origin is due to radio-nuclides of the uranium and thorium series and to  $K^{40}$ . Typical abundance figures for the accessible lithosphere are 2.8 parts per million of uranium and about eleven parts per million of thorium. The nuclides belonging to these two radio-active series and their more important properties are listed in tables IV and V. The U<sup>235</sup> series is of lesser importance but is listed for completeness in table VI. A schematic representation of these three decay series is given in figure 5.

51. There are other primordial radio-nuclides in the earth's crust. Of these, the greatest contributor to terrestrial radiation is  $K^{40}$ , which makes up about 0.01 per cent of natural potassium. Certain properties of this nuclide are listed in table VII, along with the properties of selected primordial radio-nuclides which are of lesser importance because of low abundance, long half-life or weak radiations.

## EXTERNAL RADIATION

52. External natural radiation is produced mainly by the gamma emitters of the natural radio-active series and by  $K^{40}$  in soils, rocks and construction materials, by cosmic radiation as discussed in part II, and to a small extent by atmospheric radio-activity. Outdoor and indoor terrestrial gamma dose rates measured before 1961 were summarized in tables IV. V and VI of annex E of the 1962 report.

53. Measurements of the total gamma dose obtained by means of high pressure argon or tissue equivalent ionization chambers,<sup>80-53</sup> were recently supplemented by gamma spectroscopy in order to assess separately the various contributions to the external radiation dose.<sup>64, 81-89, 91, 92</sup> Figure 6 shows a typical gamma spectrum on which the K<sup>40</sup> photo-peak of 1.46 MeV and the main peaks of the uranium and thorium series are indicated.



Figure 5. Decay schemes of the natural series<sup>a</sup> (boxes show atomic weight, historical name and half-life)

" Parallel decay branches of less than 1 per cent are not included.



Figure 6. Environmental gamma radiation spectrum, 4 × 4" NaI(T1)-scintillation detector, Denver, Colorado, 12 August 1965<sup>241</sup>

54. The contribution of each component to the air dose, as derived from the evaluation of gamma spectra, using the 2.62 MeV photo-peak of  $T1^{208}$  to represent the thorium series, the 1.46 MeV photo-peak for K<sup>40</sup> and the 1.76 MeV photo-peak of B<sup>214</sup> for the uranium series, were often compared with doses estimated on the basis of the measured abundance of Th<sup>232</sup>, K<sup>40</sup> and U<sup>238</sup> in underlying soils or rocks.<sup>80-88</sup> In general, the two methods gave results consistent within 5-10 per cent for K<sup>40</sup> and Th<sup>232</sup>, when soil density and moisture content were taken into account.

55. No such close correlation between the dose determined from  $Bi^{214}$  and the  $U^{238}$  concentrations in underlying soils was found, however.<sup>84, 89, 93</sup> Nor could it be expected, since the movement of free radon out of the upper layers of the soil into the atmosphere generally reduces the contribution of the uranium series

to the external dose at ground level. Dose rates can be correlated with the gamma-emitting daughters of the radon retained in soil. The concentrations of the daughters is only a fraction of the actual Ra<sup>226</sup> concentration in upper soils.<sup>93, 94</sup> Moreover, U<sup>238</sup> is not likely to be in equilibrium with Ra<sup>226</sup> because of the greater tendency of uranium to leach from upper soil layers during soil formation and weathering processes.

56. An increase in water content of soil will increase the density and consequently the attenuation of gamma rays from  $K^{40}$  and the radio-active series and will thus cause temporal variations in the dose rate correlated to soil moisture. The dose rates from the uranium series may, however, be affected also in the opposite direction, since clogging of the pores in the soil impedes the escape of radon from soil air into the atmosphere, thus resulting in an increased dose rate

from radon daughters. Furthermore, during rainfall, the wash-out of short-lived gamma-emitting daughters of radon from the atmosphere will temporarily increase the external dose rate attributed to the uranium series.<sup>S4, S5, 90, 94-97</sup>

57. The measured average external radiation dose rates one metre above soil in populated areas fall mostly in the range 30-65 mrad/year with a representative value of about 50 mrad/year.<sup>84, 92, 97-100</sup> Potassium and thorium each generally contribute more than one-third, while the contribution from the uranium series is usually somewhat less.

58. From the point of view of many human populations, exposure levels out of doors are more relevant than indoors. Indoor doses depend primarily on the radio-active content of construction materials and on the attenuation of outside radiation by roofs and walls. There seems to be no reason for changing the value of 50 mrad/year adopted in the 1962 report, as the few additional experimental results<sup>101, 102</sup> fall within the ranges quoted earlier.

59. Unusually high natural radiation areas were discussed in the 1962 report and the five major inhabited areas with increased terrestrial radiation were tabulated in table XX of annex E of that report. Further studies concerning external dose rates to the populations in these areas supplement and confirm previous data.<sup>103-107</sup>

60. The comments made in the 1962 report concerning the insignificance of external beta radiation to gonad or bone marrow doses must still be accepted. The external radiation dose rate from natural airborne radioactivity is usually of the order of 2 mrad/year. Since it is small compared to the dose variations discussed in paragraph 56, atmospheric radio-activity as an external radiation source will not be dealt with separately.

#### Neutrons

61. Neutrons in the earth's crust may be produced by interactions of soil elements with cosmic rays, by spontaneous fission of  $U^{238}$ , by  $(\alpha, n)$  and possibly by  $(\gamma, n)$  reactions. While of no significance as far as doses are concerned, these neutrons, some of which escape from soils and rocks, are of interest to geologists, and may sometimes be confused with cosmic-ray neutrons.

62. An indirect estimate for the production rate of neutrons due to the interactions of cosmic rays in upper soils may be obtained by dividing the average neutron flux density at sea level by the neutrons' mean free path in air, thus neglecting the differences in atomic composition of soil relative to air. A production rate of  $7 \times 10^{-5}$  n/second  $\times$  g soil at mid-latitudes (corresponding to about 2,000 n/year  $\times$  g soil) is consistent with the extrapolated cosmic ray neutron flux density of  $10^{-2}$  n/cm<sup>2</sup>  $\times$  second at sea level and a mean free path of 150 g/cm<sup>2</sup> as discussed in paragraphs 29-38.

63. Spontaneous fission of U<sup>238</sup> (half-life  $8 \times 10^{15}$  years, and 2.2 n/fission)<sup>108</sup> gives rise to a production rate of the order of only 1.4 n/year  $\times$  g soil (assuming three parts per million U/g soil).

64. Gorshkov *et al.* report the experimental yield of 0.107-0.014 n/10<sup>6</sup> alphas for the (a, n) reaction of Po<sup>210</sup> alphas on SiO<sub>2</sub> and a value of 0.238 n/10<sup>6</sup> alphas for granite.<sup>109</sup> The conversion factor from the Po<sup>210</sup> alpha yield to the alpha yield from the uranium series in equilibrium should be at least eight and for the thorium series at least six. Upper limits were derived from Gurfinkel's<sup>110</sup> values for the (a, n) reaction on O<sup>18</sup>, taking into account the increase in yield with alpha energies. These upper limits are twelve and fourteen for the uranium and thorium series, respectively.

65. Thus, taking three parts per million of uranium and eleven parts per million of thorium as representative of the upper earth's crust,<sup>111</sup> an average production rate of 13-24 n/year  $\times$  g soil and of 20-50 n/year  $\times$  g granite is obtained. Assuming sixty parts per million of uranium and 110 parts per million of thorium as possible upper limits of concentrations in granite, one would obtain a production rate of 450-800 n/year  $\times$  g granite from (a, n) reactions which might add a few per cent to the cosmic-ray neutrons observed at elevated altitudes. The 28 n/year  $\times$  g granite from spontaneous fission for this case would still remain insignificant.

#### NATURAL ACTIVITY IN WATERS

#### Oceans

66. The natural radio-activity of sea water<sup>112, 113</sup> is mainly due to  $K^{40}$  (300 pCi/litre). Rb<sup>87</sup> and the uranium series contribute about 3 pCi/litre each to the total activity of oceans. Natural H<sup>3</sup> in the upper oceanic layers might range from 0.6 to 3 pCi/litre, while all other radio-isotopes, including those of the thorium series, contribute less than 0.2 pCi/litre to sea water activity.

#### Fresh waters

67. Natural radio-activity in fresh waters is due to some activity transfer from soils and the atmosphere. Thus the activity concentrations found in waters depend on the concentrations encountered in the rocks with which the waters are in contact.<sup>36, 114</sup> Members of a radio-active series in water are rarely in radio-active equilibrium with each other because of differences in chemical and physical properties such as solubility, sorbability, etc. K<sup>40</sup> is often the main contributor to the beta activity in water.

68. As drinking water is one of the media by which natural radio-isotopes are transferred to man, the concentrations of specific nuclides, mainly belonging to the Ra<sup>226</sup> chain, have been extensively measured for many years.<sup>104, 106, 115-128</sup> Typical concentrations in continental waters, as well as usual concentrations of Pb<sup>210</sup> and Po<sup>210</sup> found in rain, are given in table VIII. Tables VII and VIII in annex E of the 1962 report list some earlier values of natural radio-activity in natural waters, springs and public water supplies for various countries. Recent information accumulated since 1962 is summarized in table IX.

69. Ra<sup>226</sup> concentrations in drinking water vary by orders of magnitude, though most waters show values between less than 0.1 to about 1 pCi/litre. Surface waters (lakes, rivers) usually show less activity than those derived from deep wells, especially in areas where the concentration of natural radio-active minerals in the earth's crust is higher than usual.

70. Rn<sup>222</sup> concentrations in fresh water may vary from less than 1 pCi/litre up to the order of 106 pCi/litre.<sup>2, 125-130</sup> Levels less than 10 pCi/litre are found in lakes and rivers, and the highest concentrations observed have been reported for some spas and spring waters.<sup>123, 128</sup> Concentrations of 10<sup>2</sup>-10<sup>4</sup> pCi/litre have been found in ground waters and even higher concentrations in deep wells (table VIII).

71. Pb<sup>210</sup> in water is mainly derived from the decay of radon in the air and the resulting deposition of this nuclide with rain. for Pb<sup>210</sup> concentrations in surface water seem to exceed those in water from deep wells.<sup>117</sup>

 $Pb^{210}$  concentrations in water do not fluctuate as strongly as  $Ra^{220}$ , and there is no correlation between the two elements nor between  $Pb^{210}$  and the sulfate, calcium or fluoride content of water. Typical concentrations are between 0.05 and 0.2 pCi/litre.

72. Information on  $\operatorname{Ra}^{228}$  or  $\operatorname{Th}^{228}$  concentrations in water is extremely limited.<sup>36, 104, 119</sup> Turner *et al.*<sup>123</sup> observed the presence of short-lived Th-series nuclides (Ra<sup>224</sup>) in water sampled in the United Kingdom. Long-lived elements, such as Th<sup>228</sup> and Ra<sup>228</sup>, were present only in traces. Th<sup>228</sup> constituting a very small fraction of the long-lived alpha activity in water.

#### THE NATURAL RADIO-ACTIVITY OF AIR

73. The natural radio-activity of the atmosphere is caused mainly by  $Rn^{222}$ ,  $Rn^{220}$  and their radio-active decay products. The contribution of  $Rn^{219}$  or its radio-active daughters is negligible.<sup>54, 36, 37</sup> Radio-active nuclides produced by cosmic rays (table II) are of minor importance as sources of atmospheric radio-activity; the radio-activity in dust particles blown from the soil by wind, or from K<sup>40</sup> brought into the atmosphere by the evaporation of sea-water spray is also extremely low. These sources will therefore not be discussed any further.

74. A simple mathematical model to account for radon exhalation rates from soils, and to estimate concentration profiles of the radon isotopes in the troposphere was developed by Israel.<sup>131</sup> His model, with some minor changes at times, has been widely followed by many authors.<sup>37, 132-184</sup>

75. The spreading out of Rn<sup>222</sup> and Rn<sup>220</sup> in the atmosphere after their exhalation from the ground is caused by turbulent diffusion and convection. The decay products of the radon gases, being isotopes of heavy metals, become readily attached to aerosol particles. At ground level, more than 99 per cent of the Pb<sup>214</sup>, Bi<sup>214</sup> and Pb<sup>212</sup> atoms, and about 75 per cent of the shorter-lived Po<sup>218</sup> atoms are carried by aerosols.<sup>34, 36, 37, 131-137</sup> The fraction of natural radio-activity not attached to aerosol particles increases with altitude. As concentrations of aerosols in the atmosphere are about 10<sup>6</sup> times higher than the concentrations of radon daughters, radio-active aerosol particles will usually contain a single radio-active atom each.

76. The effective radius of aerosols which contain the main portion of natural atmospheric radio-activity is between 50 m $\mu$  and 80 m $\mu$ .<sup>37, 135</sup> As aerosols are unstable and tend to increase in size as a consequence of condensation and coagulation processes, reported size distributions of activity are only valid for short-lived radio-active decay products. Long-lived isotopes like Pb<sup>210</sup> and daughters are therefore expected to be attached to larger aerosols.

77. The distribution of the radio-active decay products of radon in the atmosphere is consequently controlled not only by radio-active decay and diffusion, but also by sedimentation and wash-out related to the removal of aerosols.

78. Figure 7 gives a vertical distribution of concentrations for the radon isotopes and their radioactive decay products for "normal" conditions, assuming a half removal time of twenty days for all the radon daughters.<sup>134-136</sup> Full radio-active equilibrium at ground level air for  $Rn^{222}$  and its short-lived radioactive daughters is not reached because of the continuous elimination of radio-active aerosols by downward diffusion and settling. However, equilibrium between



Altitude in metres

Figure 7. Vertical distribution of concentration of the radon isotopes and their radio-active decay products<sup>134</sup>

 $Rn^{222}$  and its short-lived daughters is approached quite closely a few metres above ground.

79.  $Rn^{220}$  is virtually never in equilibrium with its radio-active decay products. The 10.6-hour half-life of  $Pb^{212}$  greatly exceeds that of  $Rn^{220}$  so that  $Pb^{212}$  atoms after their formation can diffuse to higher altitudes than  $Rn^{220}$  (or  $Po^{216}$ ). A very low  $Pb^{212}/Rn^{220}$  ratio, as expected, was measured by Fontan *et al.*<sup>139</sup> in ground level air. An excess of  $Pb^{212}$  over  $Rn^{220}$  is expected at somewhat higher altitudes. Owing to their short half-lives, the concentrations of  $Rn^{220}$  and of any of its decay products become insignificant, when compared to  $Rn^{222}$  concentrations, at some ten metres above ground.

80. The concentrations of  $Pb^{210}$ , the long-lived decay product of  $Rn^{222}$ , and its radio-active products  $Bi^{210}$  and  $Po^{210}$  must be extremely low in the troposphere owing to removal by precipitation. Their concentrations, however, increase gradually in the upper troposphere, and actually exceed those of their short-lived parents in the stratosphere. Concentration ratios of  $Po^{210}$  to  $Pb^{210}$  depend critically on the mean removal rate and increase rapidly above 1 km. Observed  $Bi^{210}/Pb^{210}$  and  $Po^{210}/Pb^{210}$ ratios in air and precipitation have therefore been used to determine the mean residence time of natural aerosols in the troposphere.<sup>37, 140-145</sup>

#### Horizontal distribution and variability

81. Local concentrations of the radon isotopes and their radio-active daughter products depend not only on the emanation rate of radon gases from the soil but also on a variety of local meteorological conditions. Wind direction is of special importance in coastal sites, on the sea and in the polar regions, as radon is mainly carried by continental air masses.

82. Winds reduce  $Rn^{222}$  concentration in the upper soil layers, thus enhancing the exhalation rate. All air motions near the earth-atmosphere interphase are turbulent; they assist to some extent in the extraction of radon gases from the upper soil air. These air motions, on the other hand, may enhance the removal rate of radio-active daughters formed in the lower atmosphere by increasing their impact on the ground. They are also removed by precipitation and dry settling of aerosols.<sup>37, 134-137, 145</sup>

83. Diurnal, seasonal or more irregular variations of the radio-activity at a given site have been reported.<sup>135, 143-151</sup> During night hours, a temperature inversion usually develops near the ground, which reduces the vertical mixing of the radon gases after their exhalation from the ground, thus producing a build-up of radio-activity which reaches its maximum concentrations in the early morning hours. The rising temperature during day-time will break this temperature inversion and facilitate turbulent mixing, thus reducing radio-activity concentrations near the ground. Minimum concentration values are usually found during the afternoon. Diurnal variations may cause concentrations to change by a factor of two to three on the average, but variations exceeding a factor of ten have been reported.

84. In some locations, the average radon concentrations in the air during winter and early spring are lower than those prevailing during summer.<sup>36, 97, 151, 152</sup> This may be due to the known seasonal variations in escape of radon from the ground, the relatively low winter and spring values being attributable to the higher moisture content of the soil. Frozen ground reduces escape considerably, and thick layers of snow or ice stop it completely. In other locations, the maximum radon concentrations are observed during autumn and winter and minimum ones in spring and summer, in accordance with variations of atmospheric conditions. e.g. the rate of vertical turbulent exchange.<sup>139, 153, 154</sup>

#### Measured concentrations of natural radio-activity

85. The release of Rn<sup>222</sup> and Rn<sup>220</sup> is considerably greater from land than over water. Typical measured levels in ground level air over continents range from 30 to 300 pCi Rn<sup>222</sup>/m<sup>3</sup> and 0.5 to 10 pCi Pb<sup>212</sup>/m<sup>3</sup>;<sup>146-150, 162-157</sup> over the oceans. the concentrations are between one and two orders of magnitude lower.<sup>37, 131, 158, 159</sup> Concentrations of the order of 2 pCi/m<sup>3</sup> for Rn<sup>222</sup> and less than 0.3 pCi/m<sup>3</sup> for Pb<sup>212</sup> were measured in Antarctica.<sup>160, 161</sup>

86. Concentrations of  $Rn^{222}$  and  $Rn^{220}$  in ground level air in various regions were summarized in table IX of annex E of the 1962 report, and in some recent publications.<sup>36, 37, 135</sup> Only a few determinations for  $Rn^{220}$  have been reported, based on the beta decay of Pb<sup>212</sup>. The erroneous assumption of radio-active equilibrium of the Pb<sup>212</sup> with the short-lived  $Rn^{220}$  in the air sampled is partly responsible for the low  $Rn^{220}/Rn^{222}$  ratios reported.<sup>37, 131, 162, 163</sup>

87. Radon concentrations indoors are generally higher than outdoor concentrations, depending on the construction materials, the degree of ventilation and the escape from indoor water sources. Average values of  $Rn^{222}$  concentrations indoors at various locations were reviewed in annex E of the 1962 report and summarized there in table XI.

88. On theoretical grounds, it can be expected that the concentration of radon in air in deep layers of undisturbed soils can be of the order of 10<sup>5</sup> pCi/m<sup>3</sup> air;<sup>37, 131</sup> therefore. such radon concentrations are to be expected in the air of caves and unventilated underground mines. Measurements made in mines, particularly uranium or thorium mines, give results consistent with this expectation.<sup>170-173</sup>

#### Long-lived decay products of radon-222

89. The general features of the circulations of  $Pb^{210}$ and  $Po^{210}$  resemble the patterns of stratospheric fall-out of artificial nuclear debris. The concentrations of  $Pb^{210}$ in ground level air are dependent on latitude and on the distribution of land masses and oceans. Lower values were found in tropical and polar regions than in temperate areas.<sup>164</sup> Concentrations in the southern hemisphere are lower than those in the northern hemisphere, because the land surfaces from which radon is exhaled are smaller in the southern hemisphere. The observed range of the average continental  $Pb^{210}$  concentrations vary from 0.002 to 0.016 pCi/m<sup>3</sup> air (excluding Antarctica). Data reported by other authors for selected locations were of the same order of magnitude.<sup>140, 142-144, 146, 165-169</sup> Only a small fraction of the Po<sup>210</sup> in equilibrium with Pb<sup>210</sup> is present in the lower troposphere.

90. Yearly deposition rates of  $1.7 \text{ mCi } Pb^{210}/km^2$ were measured for the United Kingdom.<sup>140</sup> and 2.4 mCi Pb<sup>210</sup>/km<sup>2</sup> were reported from France.<sup>166</sup> Under equilibrium conditions, Pb<sup>210</sup> and Po<sup>210</sup> activity in upper soil layers could thus amount to some 60 mCi/km<sup>2</sup> each.

# IV. The transfer of environmental radio-activity to man

#### INTRODUCTION

91. Naturally-occurring radio-active nuclides enter the body mainly through food and water, inhalation being of secondary importance. The information on  $K^{40}$ ,  $C^{14}$  and tritium transport through the food chain has remained unaltered since the 1962 report was issued; this subject, therefore, will not be discussed again here.  $Rb^{87}$  accompanies potassium in metabolic processes, and doses to man due to this element, which is commonly distributed in the biosphere, will be dealt with in paragraph 136.

92. As was pointed out earlier, the radio-active elements of the uranium series in soil are seldom in equilibrium because of their different chemical properties which determine the varying behaviour of these elements in the processes of weathering, soil formation, redistribution of minerals in the lithosphere, etc. Uranium is taken up by plants; however, because of its low specific activity and the low concentrations found in the biosphere, its radio-activity may be disregarded. Thorium is absorbed very poorly by the root systems.<sup>174-177</sup> Therefore, only radium isotopes ( $Ra^{226}$ ,  $Ra^{228}$ ), and possibly lead ( $Pb^{210}$ ) and polonium (Po<sup>210</sup>), among the long-lived nuclides of both the uranium and thorium series are taken up by plants to a degree that may be important when further transfer of radio-activity to animals and to man is considered. On the other hand, significant amounts of Po<sup>210</sup> and Pb<sup>210</sup> are deposited on plants from the atmosphere.

93.  $Ra^{226}$  and  $Ra^{228}$  decay, directly or indirectly, to  $Rn^{222}$  and  $Rn^{220}$ , respectively. The latter are chemically inactive gases. They leave the soil and, together with their short- and long-lived daughter products, form the most significant part of the natural radio-activity that is inhaled by man.

94. Areas of "normal" activity. As reported in the 1962 report, the content of  $Ra^{226}$  in soil varies considerably with geological and geochemical conditions. The levels reported from the United States, which are possibly typical,<sup>178</sup> are of the order of 0.09 to 0.8 pCi/g soil. No extensive measurements of  $Ra^{228}$ , or Th<sup>228</sup> have recently been reported. Because of the short half-

life of  $Ra^{228}$ , it may be assumed that its concentration in soils is closely related to that of its parent,  $Th^{232}$ . From the data on the escape of radon from soil and on deposition of  $Pb^{210}$  from the atmosphere it has been postulated that equilibrium levels of this nuclide in the few upper inches of soil should be about 60 mCi/km<sup>2</sup> (paragraph 90).

95. Areas of high natural radio-activity. Those areas in the State of Kerala in India, and the States of Rio de Janeiro and Espirito Santo in Brazil, where levels of radio-activity in soil are high because of the presence of monazite sands of high thorium content, were discussed in the 1962 report. Since then, additional data have been reported on the availability of radio-active elements from these soils to plants<sup>177, 179, 180</sup> and will be discussed in paragraphs 110 and 111, together with the data on accessibility to plants of Ra<sup>226</sup> and Ra<sup>228</sup> in the high background area of volcanic intrusives in the State of Minas Gerais, Brazil.

#### INTAKE BY MAN

96. In addition to  $K^{40}$ ,  $Rb^{87}$  and  $C^{14}$ , which are not considered in this section, radium ( $Ra^{226}$  and  $Ra^{228}$ ), radon ( $Rn^{222}$ ), radio-lead ( $Pb^{210}$ ) and polonium ( $Po^{210}$ ) contribute appreciable doses to man through food. When inhaled, radon ( $Rn^{222}$  and  $Rn^{220}$ ) with their short-lived decay products, and possibly radio-lead ( $Pb^{210}$ ), contribute to lung doses and must also be considered.

#### Water

97. The relative importance of drinking water as a source of natural radio-activity in human diet was studied by numerous investigators.<sup>117, 120, 123, 129, 165, 180-182</sup>

98. Sanitary (usually chemical and physico-chemical) treatment of water, as commonly applied in a majority of urban centres in a number of countries, may remove large proportions—up to 90 per cent—of Ra<sup>226</sup> and Pb<sup>210</sup>.<sup>117, 122</sup> Water-softening procedures seem to be especially effective in this respect. Chemical treatment (e.g chlorination and subsequent aeration) and storage may reduce the radon level in tap water, and boiling may further remove radon from the water which is actually consumed.

#### Typical levels of natural radio-nuclides in water

99. Water consumption contributes only a small percentage to the total intake of the nuclide (of the order of a few to 10 per cent—table X). As indicated in the 1962 report, the waters consumed by the majority of the world population usually contain less than 0.1 pCi/ litre Ra<sup>226</sup>.

100. Typical concentrations of  $Rn^{222}$  in waters derived from lakes, rivers and shallow wells, which are consumed by the majority of the world's population, are indicated in table VIII.

101. The contribution of drinking water to the total intake of  $Pb^{210}$  and  $Po^{210}$  has been estimated to be of the order of 1-10 per cent for the typical diet in the United States.<sup>165</sup>

#### Areas with high concentrations of radium and radon in drinking water

102. In some areas, where  $Ra^{226}$  concentrations in water of several pCi/litre or even more are not uncommon, water may be a significant or even a dominant contributor to the total intake of  $Ra^{226}$ . Thus, in rather

exceptional situations, involving populations relatively limited in size (less than 1 per cent of the population of the country as a whole in the cases investigated so far), the total intake of Ra<sup>226</sup> may be twice as high as the average for the country (Cornwall in the United Kingdom),<sup>123</sup> or even higher by an order of magnitude (some regions of the midwestern States of the United States).<sup>122, 182</sup>, <sup>183</sup> However, in the monazite area in the State of Kerala, India, where elevated intakes of radium were noted, the relative role of water as a contributor of radium was limited to about 10 per cent, because of higher concentrations of Ra<sup>226</sup> both in water and foodstuffs of plant origin from local sources.<sup>180</sup>

103. Consumption of water with high concentrations of dissolved radon (deep wells in some areas. and spa waters which show concentrations of about 20 to 200 nCi/litre, with the highest known value of 5,000 nCi/ litre)<sup>129</sup> is rather exceptional. In some areas, such as those found in the States of Maine and New Hamphire in the United States,<sup>184</sup> well waters supplying a population of the order of 100,000<sup>130</sup> contain radon at average concentrations of about 16 and 30 nCi/litre. Average concentrations of 1 to a few nCi/litre were found in central Sweden<sup>129</sup> (population of about 300,000), Cornwall<sup>123</sup> (population of about 300,000), the Federal Republic of Germany and elsewhere (see also 1962 report). Many factors discussed in paragraph 98 reduce the intake considerably. The possible significance of doses from radon taken in with water will be discussed in paragraph 148.

#### Foodstuffs

#### Areas of typical "normal" levels of intake

104. The total intake of  $Ra^{226}$  and the contribution of different food categories was studied in the United Kingdom,<sup>181, 185</sup> the United States,<sup>180-189</sup> and India.<sup>180</sup> The average estimates reported for areas with apparently normal concentrations of  $Ra^{226}$  in drinking water and foodstuffs vary between 0.7 and 5 pCi/day (table X), while smaller variations in the values of the Ra/Ca ratio have been reported.

105. In both the United States<sup>187</sup> and the United Kingdom<sup>181, 185</sup> the main sources of radium in the diet are not the same as those from which the main proportion of calcium is derived (table X). In all the circumstances investigated so far, foodstuffs of plant origin (cereals and grain products, fruits and vegetables) form a major source of dietary Ra<sup>226</sup>. The relative availability for absorption in the gastro-intestinal tract of radium from water and different foodstuffs is unknown.

106. The daily intake in very low-income groups in Puerto Rico<sup>190</sup> is slightly less than 1 pCi/day. However, the calcium intake is also low, and thus the resulting Ra<sup>226</sup>/Ca ratio in the diet is similar to that in other regions of the United States. It could be inferred from the data of Chhabra<sup>180</sup> that a similar picture may obtain in India—at least for the area investigated where the intakes of both radium and calcium seem to be low.<sup>2</sup>

107. The intake of  $Ra^{228}$  has not been studied on a scale comparable to that of  $Ra^{226}$ , but the data derived from alpha-spectrometric measurements in different materials, including water, foodstuffs and human tissues.<sup>191, 192</sup> indicate that the intake of  $Ra^{228}$  is, on the average, about two to four times less than that of  $Ra^{226}$ .

108. The Pb<sup>210</sup> intake has not been specifically determined, and only some indirect estimates are available<sup>165</sup> which show that, on the average, the total intake per day should be of the order of 1-10 pCi. This seems to be typical for most regions, with the exceptions discussed in paragraph 113. The contributions of different foodstuffs are not known, but those of plant origin probably play the dominant role.

109. The estimated usual intake of Po<sup>210</sup> is of the order of several pCi per day,<sup>193, 194</sup> in agreement with the results of total dietary analyses.<sup>180</sup> The data are consistent with a faecal excretion of 1.8 pCi/day as determined by Holtzman<sup>163</sup> or of 1.7-6.4 pCi/day as found by Hill.<sup>193</sup> The data indicate that the main sources are fresh leafy vegetables and, in some circumstances, a few animal tissues (kidney, liver).

# Special food chain mechanisms and areas of high natural radio-activity

110. Information on the intake of natural radioelements in areas of high radio-activity in the soil is very limited. In Brazil, locally grown foodstuffs with higher than normal radio-activity are found in some localities near the towns of Araxa and Tapira, in the State of Minas Gerais.<sup>179</sup> In these areas, the concentrations of Ra<sup>226</sup> and Ra<sup>228</sup> in edible plants are about one to two orders of magnitude higher than normal. However, estimates of intake in this area are not yet available. Food from the monazite areas of Brazil contains only the normal amount of radio-activity from both the uranium and the thorium series. This seems to be due to the very low solubility of the minerals of which the monazite sands are composed.

111. In India, in the high activity area of Kerala State, recent studies<sup>180</sup> have revealed that the radium intake due to locally grown plant foodstuffs may be higher by a factor of four to five than in the Bombay area, and is still considered within the range of values typical of other countries.

112. Brazil nuts are known to accumulate the heavier alkaline earth elements. radium and barium, to an unusual extent. This effect has been observed in samples from Brazil, Malaya and Guyana;<sup>181, 195, 196</sup> concentrations in kernals usually range from one to five pCi Ra<sup>226</sup>/gramme. Thus the quantity of Ra<sup>226</sup> in one gramme of Brazil nuts is comparable to the estimated average daily intake of the population shown in table X. It is not known whether the radium from Brazil nuts is absorbed in the gastro-intestinal tract of man to the same extent as radium in other foods.

113. In the 1964 report (annex A, paragraphs 118, 128), a special food chain mechanism, transferring unusually high activities of  $Cs^{137}$  from lichens through reindeer or caribou meat to man, was discussed. The same applies to  $Pb^{210}$  and  $Po^{210}$  of natural origin. and fragmentary data are available (table XV), showing high concentrations of both  $Pb^{210}$  and  $Po^{210}$  in lichens and in the meat of reindeer and caribou, which graze in arctic regions.<sup>193, 197</sup> It was postulated that the dietary  $Pb^{210}$  and  $Po^{210}$  intakes of people subsisting on large amounts of caribou or reindeer meat may be elevated by an order of magnitude above the typical values observed elsewhere.<sup>197</sup> This is supported by still fragmentary evidence of  $Pb^{210}$  and  $Po^{210}$  in human tissues from northern Canada<sup>198</sup> and Finnish Lapland<sup>199</sup> (paragraph 133).

#### Air

114. Normal concentrations. The normal concentrations of radon and thoron in ground level atmospheric air have been discussed in paragraphs 79, 85 and 86.

The usual levels to which human populations are exposed, however, are heavily influenced by indoor concentrations. Indoor concentrations are normally higher than those found outside because of the accumulation of radon and thoron from building materials in closed or poorly ventilated premises. The problem was reviewed in the 1962 report, and no recent data are available which would warrant a change in the position adopted therein. It will be maintained, therefore, that the typical average effective concentration of Rn<sup>222</sup> to which the world population is exposed is about 500  $pCi/m^3$ . Daughter products, from Po<sup>218</sup> through Bi<sup>214</sup>, are assumed to be present in concentrations between 100 and 500 pCi/m<sup>3</sup>. Corresponding average concentrations of thoron daughter products (Po<sup>216</sup>, Pb<sup>212</sup> and Po<sup>212</sup>) are based on an estimate by Jacobi<sup>200</sup> and have been assumed to equal about 600, 10 and 10 pCi/m<sup>3</sup>, respectively.

115. High concentrations. It needs to be mentioned here that, because of their occupation in underground mines, some groups of workers are exposed to air concentrations of  $Rn^{222}$  and daughter products higher than usual (paragraph 88). The fraction of the population subjected to this type of exposure, even in industrialized countries, does not exceed a fraction of 1 per cent. The importance of the problem and the health hazards involved were discussed in the 1964 report (annex B, paragraphs 152-174) and elsewhere.<sup>201</sup>

116. The downward flow of cold air gives rise to increased concentrations of radon at the bottom of valleys.  $Rn^{222}$  values ten times higher than the night concentrations over flat country have been observed in valleys by Servant.<sup>202</sup>

#### LEVELS IN MAN

117. Our knowledge of concentrations of naturallyoccurring radio-active potassium ( $K^{40}$ ), carbon ( $C^{14}$ ), tritium ( $H^3$ ) and beryllium ( $Be^7$ ) in human tissues and of their distribution in different organs has remained essentially unchanged since the 1962 report was issued, but substantial new information has become available on radium isotopes and nuclides of the Pb<sup>210</sup> -Bi<sup>210</sup>-Po<sup>210</sup> chain.

# Metabolic data on Ra<sup>226</sup> and the Pb<sup>210</sup>-Bi<sup>210</sup>-Po<sup>210</sup> chain

118. Several investigators have shown recently<sup>203</sup>, <sup>204</sup> that about 80-85 per cent of radium in the body is contained in the skeleton, the remaining fraction being distributed approximately uniformly in soft tissue as shown in table XIII. The concentration of radium per gramme of ash from soft tissues is similar to that in the skeleton, but is lower by a factor of about twenty when calculated on a fresh weight basis.<sup>203</sup>

119. The concentration of  $Ra^{226}$  per gramme of body ash of man is constant throughout the entire life span, starting from the earliest period of foetal life (four months) in which the determinations were possible.<sup>205</sup> The rise of body calcium and radium in the process of growth is apparently parallel, and no significant discrimination between the two elements seems to take place at the placental barrier. The total body burden becomes constant in adult age and displays the organ distribution described in the foregoing paragraph.

120. Under steady-state conditions the ratio of radium to calcium in the body contrasts markedly with that in diet. The observed ratio (OR), defined as

 $\frac{Ra/Ca \text{ in bone}}{Ra/Ca \text{ in diet}}$ 

for adults is about 0.016.<sup>186, 190</sup> This compares with ratios of about 0.25 for strontium and 0.08 for barium.<sup>207</sup> The consistency of the OR for radium under different conditions of dietary composition suggests that the content in bone is determined by the dietary ratio of the two elements.<sup>190</sup>

121. The content of  $Pb^{210}$  in the human body has been the subject of several studies in recent years; the results of measurements are collected in tables XII and XIII. There is apparently little correlation of  $Pb^{210}$ with the content of  $Ra^{226}$  in bone from the same places.

122. Most of the total Pb<sup>210</sup> present in the body is in the skeleton.<sup>165, 199</sup> The distribution of Pb<sup>210</sup> in the skeleton appears to be uniform within a factor of two, with slightly but significantly higher concentrations in trabecular than in compact bone. Concentrations in the bone tissue of males are somewhat (about one-third) higher than in that of females.<sup>165</sup>

123. The contributions of different sources of Pb<sup>210</sup> to the total body burden are not known in detail. However, inhaled air and dietary intake seem to be the main contributors. The decay of radon in the body (both the atmospheric radon and that formed *in situ* from the disintegration of Ra<sup>226</sup>) and the intake of Pb<sup>210</sup> with water seem to account for only a few per cent of the activity present in the human body.<sup>165</sup>

124. The distribution of  $Pb^{210}$  in human soft tissues is not known in detail. The ratio of  $Po^{210}$  to  $Pb^{210}$  is less than unity in most of them with values close to equilibrium in the liver, and with some excess  $Po^{210}$  in the kidneys and ovaries.<sup>193</sup> The origin of this excess  $Po^{210}$  is still open to question. However, as pointed out by Holtzman.<sup>208</sup> there are kinetical reasons for supposing that by far the largest fraction of  $Po^{210}$  in the body, including this so-called "unsupported  $Po^{210}$ ", comes mainly from the redistribution of that  $Po^{210}$  that is formed by radio-active decay of  $Pb^{210}$  in the body rather than from direct dietary intake.

125. Hunt et al.<sup>209</sup> showed that, despite marked differences between individual teeth and observable variations between trabecular and compact bone in the same person, the average levels of Ra<sup>226</sup> and Pb<sup>210</sup> in bone were closely correlated with those in teeth. The average concentrations of radium in bone and teeth were equal. whereas those for Pb<sup>210</sup> were twice as high in bone. It may be concluded, therefore, that teeth analyses for Ra<sup>226</sup> may be used to study average population levels in the skeleton when bone material is not available and when no significant and prolonged changes in the rate of intake are expected. On the other hand, as the length of the physical half-life of  $Pb^{210}$  ( $T_{12} = 19.4$ years) is comparable with the human life span, and the mineral turnover of the skeleton may significantly differ from that of the teeth, the Pb<sup>210</sup> concentration in teeth as a measure of skeletal levels demands further study.

#### Normal levels of natural radio-activity in man

126. Ra<sup>226</sup> has repeatedly been determined in human tissues by several investigators. The results published since 1962 are collected in tables XI and XIII.

127. The Ra<sup>226</sup> values as reported in table XI indicate that bone levels in most areas of normal dietary intake of this nuclide are similar, the most frequent values clustering around  $1-1.5 \times 10^{-2}$  pCi/g ash, corresponding to an average of about 30 to 40 pCi Ra<sup>226</sup> in the skeleton of a standard man (assuming an average of 2.800 grammes of ash in the skeleton). This value is substantially lower than the value of 60 pCi accepted in the 1962 report. It seems appropriate therefore to suggest, for the purpose of dose-rate calculation, a value of 30 pCi  $Ra^{226}$  as typical of the whole skeleton burden in areas of normal rates of intake.

128. Ra<sup>228</sup> is the only important long-lived element of the thorium series that is absorbed to a significant degree from the gastro-intestinal tract. Ra<sup>228</sup> decays through Ac<sup>228</sup> to Th<sup>228</sup> ( $T_{14} = 1.9$  years), which in turn decays through a series of short-lived nuclides to the stable isotope Pb<sup>208</sup>. Very small fractions of the amounts of radio-active decay products of Th<sup>228</sup> found in bone leave the skeletal deposition site of Ra<sup>228</sup> and Th<sup>223,210</sup> The latter nuclide has recently been determined in bone, together with Ra<sup>226</sup>. In two studies, the average ratio between activities of Th<sup>228</sup> and Ra<sup>226</sup> in bone ash varied between  $0.25^{183}$  and  $0.4.^{203}$  These values are consistent with results reported earlier.<sup>211</sup> and it seems appropriate to accept that the value of 0.3 to 0.4 is closer to the real situation than the figure of 0.7, which was assumed in the 1962 report. Thus, a natural skeletal burden of 10 pCi Th<sup>228</sup> in a standard man seems typical.

129. From table XII it follows that the typical Pb<sup>210</sup> burden in the skeleton of an adult is about 270 pCi. As only a small fraction of Po<sup>210</sup> formed by the radioactive decay of Pb<sup>210</sup> and Bi<sup>210</sup> in bone is removed from its site of formation, the activities of all three nuclides in the skeleton are close to radio-active equilibrium.<sup>165, 203, 212-214</sup> It seems that, in contrast to the 1962 report where a ratio of Po<sup>210</sup>/Pb<sup>210</sup> of 0.5 was assumed, a value of about 0.9 is closer to reality.

# Areas of high natural radio-activity and special food chain mechanisms

130. In some areas of the midwestern States of the United States, where concentrations of  $Ra^{226}$  in drinking water of about 1 to 10 pCi/litre are not uncommon,  $Ra^{226}$  levels in bone are three to four times higher than those typical elsewhere (table XI). The population of the area concerned is about 1.000,000.<sup>122</sup>

131. Preliminary data<sup>215</sup> from those areas of high natural radio-activity in Brazil where high activities of radium in plants of local origin were found (towns of Araxa and Tapira, State of Minas Gerais) show that the concentrations of  $Ra^{226}$  in teeth collected from the inhabitants are higher than in "normal" areas but only by a factor of two to three (table XIV). In view of the fact that a significant correlation exists between concentrations of  $Ra^{226}$  in bones and teeth<sup>200</sup> (paragraph 125), these observations suggest that the skeletal levels of  $Ra^{226}$  in this area of Brazil might be elevated by a similar factor. The population living in the areas of Araxa and Tapira is about 15.000.

132. The data from the monazite area in Kerala State in India are even more scanty. As shown in table XI, in five samples of human bone analyzed so far,<sup>180</sup>, <sup>216</sup> the concentrations of radium were on the average higher than those typical for "normal" areas by one order of magnitude. The population residing in the monazite area of Kerala State amounts to about 80,000 people.

133. As discussed in paragraph 113, high concentrations of  $Pb^{210}$  and  $Po^{210}$  in lichens and in caribou and reindeer meat were found in arctic regions. Fragmentary data available on  $Pb^{210}$  and  $Po^{210}$  show that human beings subsisting to a significant degree on caribou meat display levels of both nuclides that differ widely from those usually found in the northern temperate zone. Thus, Hill<sup>198</sup> was able to demonstrate that the average concentration of  $Po^{210}$  in placentae of Eskimo women from northern Canada who consumed large amounts of caribou, reindeer or moose meat amounted to 59 pCi/kg fresh weight, whereas in women subsisting on a diet normal for England and Canada 3.3 and 5.0 pCi/kg were found. Kauranen and Miettinen<sup>199</sup> reported levels of  $Po^{210}$  in the blood of reindeerbreeding Lapps which were eight times higher than those in the blood of southern Finns. A similar trend was observed for  $Pb^{210}$  in Eskimo bones, as can be inferred from table XII. The size of the populations living in the arctic regions and subsisting on reindeer or caribou meat as one of their main dietary items is difficult to evaluate but may be as high as 1,000,000.

# Doses from internal irradiation by natural radio-active nuclides

134. Dose rates in millirads per year from internal sources of natural radiation to the gonads, to cells lining Haversian canals, to osteocytes and to the bone marrow contained in trabecular bone have been assembled in table XVI. The per cent contributions of alpha radiation to the total dose rates are also indicated.

135. It is realized that for the purpose of comparing risks, doses in rads ought to be weighted by appropriate RBE values. In the case of alpha emitters, however, the information on RBE is so uncertain and the values proposed by various authors so widely different that it is reasonable to consider them as still unknown, although it is possible that they may be higher than one.<sup>67</sup> If this were so, and if unweighted dose rates from natural sources as given in table XVI were used as a standard for obtaining comparative risks from other, man-made, sources, the comparative risks would thus be over-estimated depending on the RBE values applying to any given effect.

136. The estimates of doses from  $K^{40}$ ,  $C^{14}$  and  $Rn^{222}$ and short-lived daughter products in soft tissues other than the respiratory tract are the same as those given in the 1962 report. Other values have been recalculated on the basis of different estimates of tissue concentrations and/or by introducing some changes in the method of dose calculation. Doses to gonads from  $Rb^{87}$  amount to about 0.3 mrad/year; they are certainly less in osteocytes and in bone marrow.

137. The doses of alpha radiation to osteocytes and Haversian canals from Ra<sup>226</sup> and daughter products, Ra<sup>228</sup> and daughter products, and Po<sup>210</sup> have been calculated by the method of Spiers.<sup>217</sup> The assumed diameters of the cavities were  $5\mu$  for the osteocytic lacunae and  $50\mu$  for the Haversian canals. The values of the geometrical factors for Ra<sup>226</sup> were those calculated by Charlton and Cormack,<sup>218</sup> assuming one-third retention of Rn<sup>222</sup> and its short-lived daughter products (through Po<sup>214</sup>), while those for Ra<sup>228</sup> and daughters in equilibrium and for Po<sup>210</sup> were those given by Stahlhofen.<sup>203</sup> Doses to bone from beta emission of all nuclides of these series were ignored because the percentage of energy delivered from beta decay in bone constitutes, under the conditions of equilibrium assumed, only about 2. 4 and 7 per cent of the total energy of the Ra<sup>226</sup>, Ra<sup>228</sup> and Pb<sup>210</sup> chains, respectively.<sup>b</sup> The dose of beta radiation to bone marrow from these series was also ignored as it amounted to approximately 0.1 millirad per year.

138. The alpha dose rates in fresh bone from individual nuclides that result from these calculations are significantly higher than those obtained in 1962. The doses from  $Ra^{226}$  and  $Ra^{228}$  differ only slightly from previous estimates, whereas those from  $Po^{210}$  are definitely higher, both because higher concentrations have now been assumed and because a different method of dose computation has been used.

139. In the present review, the dose rate to the marrow contained in trabecular bone from  $Po^{210}$  has been assessed on the basis of the presumed concentration of the nuclide in soft tissues (~3 pCi/kg fresh weight) rather than in the mineralized bone itself as was done in the 1962 report.

140. If the total annual dose estimates from internal sources presented in table XVI are compared with the dose estimates given in the 1962 report expressed in millirads, very little difference is seen.

141. At the time when the 1962 report was adopted, it was realized that the irradiation of the respiratory tract from natural sources exceeded that of any other organ of the human body. On the other hand, only approximate calculations of average doses to different volumes of tissues in the respiratory tract were possible. Since then, however, significant progress has been made in better understanding the mechanisms by which daughter products of  $Rn^{222}$  and  $Rn^{220}$  are deposited and transported in the respiratory tract of man.

142. Thus, Altshuler et al.<sup>170</sup> have calculated the doses of alpha radiation from Po<sup>218</sup> and Po<sup>214</sup>. These doses account for almost the whole of the dose to alveolar, bronchiolar, bronchial and tracheal epithelia, and, in estimating them, allowance was made for the distribution of radio-activity (Po<sup>218</sup>, Pb<sup>214</sup>, Po<sup>214</sup>) between free ions and natural aerosols of varying particle size, for the deposition of ions and particles in different parts of the respiratory tract, for the upward transport of radio-activity in the bronchial tree with the flow of mucus, and for the physical and anatomical factors involved in the penetration of alpha particles through the mucus and the bronchial epithelium.

143. A similar study has been made by  $Jacobi^{200}$  for both  $Rn^{222}$  and daughter products, and  $Rn^{220}$  and daughter products by applying somewhat different physical and anatomical criteria. In both studies, it was assumed that the critical irradiated tissue was the basal layer of cells of the bronchial epithelium.

144. Both studies yielded similar results, pointing to the fact that the dose rates from  $Po^{218}$  and  $Po^{214}$ alpha particles are highest in the epithelium of segmental and lobar bronchi. With average concentrations of  $Po^{218}$ ,  $Po^{214}$  and  $Bi^{214}$ , each between 100 and 500  $pCi/m^3$ , the results of both studies indicate that the dose rate in these parts of the respiratory system is of the order of several hundreds of millirads per year, the doses to alveolar tissues and to bronchioli being lower by two and to the trachea by one order of magnitude. At average concentrations of  $Po^{216}$ ,  $Pb^{212}$ and  $Bi^{212}$  of 600, 10 and 10  $pCi/m^3$ , respectively, as are assumed for the purpose of the present annex, the irradiation from these nuclides adds only another few per cent to the values given above for doses from  $Po^{218}$  and  $Po^{214}.^{200}$ 

145. The quantitative agreement between the results of the two studies may be somewhat fortuitous, and further studies are necessary to provide sounder infor-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Recent evidence indicates that it is the irradiation of the endosteal cells lining the inner surface of bone, rather than that of osteocytes or the cells of Haversian canals, which is of relevance to the induction of bone tumours. The doses delivered to endosteal cells will normally be less than those quoted in this report for osteocytes and will often also be less than those given for cells of the Haversian canals.

mation on several of the critical parameters, especially those of a physiological and anatomical nature.<sup>219, 220</sup> It must be mentioned that higher doses may be received if some uptake and retention of radio-activity by the tissues of the respiratory tract is assumed, but such a possibility is neglected at present for lack of relevant information.<sup>170</sup>

146. On the other hand, rapid dissociation of  $Po^{218}$ ,  $Pb^{214}$  and  $Bi^{214}$  atoms (or ions) from aerosol particles deposited in the respiratory tract with subsequent direct transfer to the blood stream and other organs could reduce the dose significantly. That such a possibility exists was demonstrated by Pohl.<sup>221</sup> Even so, however, it is still uncertain whether the demonstrated resorption of radon decay products takes place predominantly from the alveolar regions or from the bronchial tree, which would be more significant from the dosimetric point of view. In any case, the doses to the critical cells in some areas of bronchial epithelium thus obtained seem higher by at least one order of magnitude than those to the whole respiratory organ that were accepted in the 1962 report.

147. An additional exposure to natural polonium may result from cigarette smoking.<sup>193, 222-228</sup> Average alpha-radiation doses to the respiratory tract of smokers from excess Po<sup>210</sup> deposition is not expected to exceed about 1 mrad/year. In some areas of bronchial epithelium where concentrations up to 0.3 pCi/gramme have been detected,<sup>228</sup> the alpha dose due to Po<sup>210</sup> might reach the level of some tens of millirads per year. The biological significance of this irradiation is

 $\pm 1$ 

e =

unknown, but it appears most unlikely to be appreciable in view of the low doses involved.

148. The metabolism of radon ingested with water and the doses attributable to this source of radio-activity were studied by von Döbeln and Lindell<sup>129</sup> and by Hursh *et al.*<sup>180</sup> The dose per unit of activity ingested seems highest in the stomach (~20 mrad/ $\mu$ Ci Rn<sup>222</sup>), those to other organs being lower by two orders of magnitude. At normal or typical concentrations of radon in drinking water of surface origin, which are of the order of a few picocuries per litre,<sup>123</sup> the doses are negligible. In those areas where concentration of Rn<sup>222</sup> in drinking water is of the order of nanocuries per litre, the doses to the stomach could be correspondingly higher—of the order of a few millirads per year.

#### V. Recapitulation of dose rates

149. Estimates of dose rates to man from natural sources are summarized in table XVII. For comparison, the estimates given in the 1962 report but expressed in millirads per year are also included. The differences between the two sets of estimates are slight. The dose rates to cells lining Haversian canals, however, include a larger contribution from alpha particles, whereas those to the gonads and bone marrow include a smaller contribution than the dose rates obtained in 1962. Dose rates to the lung tissues are not given in the table since no exact estimate is available, but those to the epithelium of segmental and lobar bronchi are believed to be of the order of several hundreds of millirads per year (paragraph 144).

		Rest mass			
Particle	Electric charge	MeV	Electron masses	Mean lifetime seconds	Decay products
n	0	940	1,839	103	e-+++ p
p	+1	938	1,836	Stable	<u> </u>
<i>π</i> =	$\pm 1$	140	273	$2.5  imes 10^{-8}$	$\mu = + \nu$
πο	0	135	264	$2 \times 10^{-16}$	2γ
μ=	$\pm 1$	106	207	2.2 × 10-6	e = + 2 v

TABLE I. PROPERTIES OF THE MAIN SECONDARY PARTICLES IN COSMIC RADIATION

\*A positron (e<sup>+</sup>) is annihilated by combining with an electron, and two photons are emitted.

1

Stable\*

0.511

TABLE II. SOME RADIO-NUCLIDES PRODUCED BY COSMIC RAYS<sup>31-40</sup>

Radio-nuclide	Half-life	Maximum energy of beta radiation in keV	Main mode of formation	Calculated atmospheric production rate (atoms/cm <sup>2</sup> X year)	Calculated concentration in the lower troposphere (pCi/m <sup>3</sup> )
H-3	12.3y	18	Spallation of N <sup>14</sup> or O <sup>16</sup>	8 × 10 <sup>6</sup>	5 × 10-2
Be-7	53d	Electron capture	Spallation of N <sup>14</sup> or O <sup>16</sup>	$2.5 imes10^6$	0.5
Be-10	$2.7  imes 10^{6} \mathrm{y}$	550	Spallation of N <sup>14</sup> or O <sup>16</sup>	$1.4-2.6  imes 10^{6}$	$5  imes 10^{-8}$
C-14	5,760y	165	N14 (n, p) C <sup>24</sup>	$50-65 imes10^6$	1.3-1.6
Na-22	2.6y	540	Spallation of A40	$1.8 imes10^3$	5 × 10-5
Si-32	700y	100	Spallation of	$5-6  imes 10^3$	$8 \times 10^{-7}$

TABLE II. SOME RADIO-NUCLIDES PRODUCED BY COSMIC RAYS<sup>31-40</sup> (continued)

Radio-nuclide	Half-life	Maximum energy of beta radiation in ke	Main mode of formation	Calculated atmospheric production rate (atoms/cm² × year)	Calculated concentration in the lower troposphere (pCi/m <sup>3</sup> )
P-32	14.3d	1,720	Spallation of $A^{40}$	$2.5  imes 10^4$	$1.1  imes 10^{-2}$
P-33	25d	250	Spallation of $A^{40}$	$2.1  imes 10^4$	6 × 10-3
S–35	87d	165	Spallation of A <sup>40</sup>	$4.4 imes10^4$	6 × 10-3
C1–36	$3.1  imes 10^{5}$ y	710		$3.5 imes10^4$	1.2 × 10-8

TABLE III. THE IONIZING COMPONENT OF COSMIC RAYS AT SEA LEVEL

Author	Year	Ion pairs/cm³ × second (STP)	mrad/year
UNSCEAR <sup>2</sup>	1962	1.90 - 1.96	28
Shamos and Liboff <sup>65</sup>	1965	2.2 ± 0.06	$28.5 \pm 0.8$
Herbst <sup>64</sup>	1963		28
Kastner <sup>66</sup>	1965	$2.2 \pm 0.1$	$29 \pm 1.3$
Lowder and Beck <sup>18</sup>	1965	$2.1 \pm 0.1$	$27.6 \pm 1.3$
Lillicrap <sup>19</sup>	1965	*	$26 \pm 1.5$

\* Energy absorbed in a water Čerenkov detector.

TABLE	IV.	URANIUM	SERIES <sup>a</sup>
-------	-----	---------	---------------------

[sotope	Atomic number	Historical name	Half-life	Alpha and/ or beta ray energies (MeV) <sup>b</sup>	Gamma ray energies (MeV) <sup>b</sup>
U-238	92	Uranium I	$4.5 imes10^9$ y	a4.18(77), 4.13(23)	
Th-234	90	Uranium $X_1$	24.1 d	β0.19(65), 0.10(35)	0.09(15),0.06(7), 0.03(7)
Pa-234	91	${\rm Uranium} \ {\rm X_2}$	1.18 min	$\beta 2.31(93), 1.45(6), 0.55(1)$	1.01(2), 0.77(1), 0.04(3)
U-234 Th-230	92 90	Uranium II Ionium	$2.50 \times 10^{5} \text{ y}$ $8.0 \times 10^{4} \text{ v}$	a4.77(72), 4.72(28) a4.68(76), 4.62(24)	0.05 (28)
Ra-226 Rn-222	88 86	Radium Radon	1,622 y 3.82 d	a4.78(94), 4.59(6) a5.48(100) a6.00(100)	0.19(4)
Pb-214	82	Radium Be	26.8 min	$\beta 1.03(6), 0.66(40) 0.46(50), 0.40(4)$	0.35(44),0.29(24), 0.24(11),0.05(2)
Bi-214	83	Radium C <sup>e</sup>	19.7 min	β3.18(15), 2.56(4), 1.79(8), 1.33(33), 1.03(22), 0.74(20)	2.43(2), 2.20(6), 2.12(1), 1.85(3), 1.76(19), 1.73(2), 1.51(3), 1.42(4), 1.38(7), 1.28(2), 1.24(7), 1.16(2), 1.12(20), 0.94(5), 0.81(2), 0.77(7), 0.61(45)
Po-214 Pb-210 Bi-210 Po-210 Pb-206	84 82 83 84 82	Radium C'e Radium De Radium Ee Radium F Radium G	160 × 10 <sup>-6</sup> sec 19.4 y 5.0 d 138.4 d Stable	α7.58(100) β0.06(17),0.02(83) β1.16(100) α5.30(100)	0.05(4)

<sup>a</sup> Based on reference 230.

<sup>b</sup> Figures in parentheses indicate per cent yield per disintegration.

e Parallel decay branches of less than 1 per cent are not listed.

TABLE V. THORIUM SERIES<sup>4</sup>

Isotope		Atomic number	Historical name	Half-life	Alpha and/ or beta ray energies (MeV)b	Gamma ray energies (MeV) <sup>b</sup>
		90	Thorium	$1.41 \times 10^{10} \text{ y}$	a4.01(76), 3.95(24)	0.06(24)
Ra-228		88	Mesothorium I	5.8 yc	β0.05(100)	•••
Ac-228		89	Mesothorium II	6.13 h	β2.18(10), 1.85(9),	1.64(13), 1.59(12),
					1.72(7), 1.13(53),	1.10, 1.04, 0.97(18),
					0.64(8), 0.45(13)	0.91(25), 0.46(3),
						0.41(2), 0.34(11),
						0.23, 0.18(3),
						0.13(6), 0.11, 0.10,
					<b>-</b>	0.08
Th-228	••	90	Radio-thorium	1.91 y	a5.42(72), 5.34(28)	0.08(2)
Ra-224	•••	88	Thorium X	3.64 d	a5.68(95), 5.45(5)	0.24(5)
Rn-220	• • •	86	Thoron	54.5 sec	a6.28(99+)	
Po-216	• • •	84	Thorium A <sup>d</sup>	0.158 sec	a6.78(100)	· · ·
РЬ-212	•••	82	Thorium B	10.64 h	$\beta 0.58(14), 0.34(80),$	0.30(5), 0.24(82),
					0.16(6)	0.18(1), 0.12(2)
Bi-212	• • •	83	Thorium C	60.5 min	a(35%) 6.09(10),	(35%) 0.04(1),
					6.04(25)	(65%) 2.20(2),
					$\beta(65\%)$ 2.25(56),	1.81(1), 1.61(3),
					1.52(4), 0.74(1),	1.34(2), 1.04(2),
			~ . ~		0.63(2)	0.83(8), 0.73(10)
Po-212	• • •	84	Thorium C	$0.30 \times 10^{-6}$ sec	a8.78(100)	
T1-208	• • •	81	Thorium C"	3.1 min	β2.37(2), 1.79(47),	2.62(100), 0.86(14),
					1.52, 1.25	0.76(2), 0.58(83),
						0.51(25), 0.28(9),
<b>DI 000</b>		~	<i>m</i> · ¬	6.11		0.25(2)
РБ-208	•••	82	Thorium D	Stable		

<sup>a</sup> Based on reference 230, except where otherwise indicated.
<sup>b</sup> Figures in parentheses indicate per cent yield per disintegration.
<sup>c</sup> From reference 231.
<sup>d</sup> Parallel decay branches of less than 1 per cent are not listed.

j. ĺ

ŀ

Isotope	Atomic number	Histo <del>ri</del> cal name	Half-life	Alpha and/ or beta tay energies (MeV)b	Gamma ray energies (MeV) <sup>b</sup>
U-235	. 92	Actinouranium	7.13 × 10 <sup>8</sup> y	a4.59(5), 4.55(4), 4.50(1), 4.41(4), 4.39(57), 4.36(18), 4.32(3), 4.21(6)	0.204(6), 0.185(54), 0.164(5), 0.143(11), 0.110(3)
Th-231	. 90	Uranium Y	25.64 hr	β0.30(45), 0.22(20), 0.13(20), 0.09(15)	0.095(2), 0.084(7), 0.026(12)
Pa-231	. 91	Protoactinium	3.47 × 10⁴ y	a5.05(11), 5.02(23), 5.00(25), 4.97(2), 4.94(23), 4.84(1), 4.72(10), 4.68(3)	0.33(1), 0.30(2), 0.10(2), 0.06(13), 0.04(15), 0.029(90), 0.025(11), 0.02(4), 0.0165(20)
Ac-227	. 89	Actinium	21.6 у	a(1.2%) 4.94(1), others (weak) β(98.8%) 0.046(100)	
Fr-223	. 87	Actinium K	21 min	<b>β</b> 1.15(100)	0.08(24), 0.05(40)
Th-227	90	Radio-actinium	18.17 d	a6.04(23), 6.01(3), 5.98(24), 5.96(4), 5.87(3), 5.76(21), 5.70(19), 5.67(2)	0.33(7), 0.31(4), 0.30(5), 0.29(2), 0.28(2), 0.26(7), 0.24(13), 0.17(1), 0.11(4), 0.10(1), 0.08(5), 0.06(9), 0.05(16), 0.03(39)
Ra-223	88	Actinium X	11.68 d	<sup>a</sup> 5.87(1), 5.75(10), 5.71(52), 5.61(25), 5.54(9), 5.50(1), 5.43(2)	0.45(1), 0.34(7), 0.27(13), 0.15(11)
Rn-219	86	Actinone	3.92 sec	∝6.81(80), 6.54(13), 6.42(7)	0.40(5), 0.27(9)

# TABLE VI. ACTINIUM SERIES<sup>a</sup>

30

TABLE VI. ACTINIUM SERIES<sup>a</sup> (continued)

Isotope	Atomic number	Historical name	Half-life	Alpha and/ or beta ray energies (MeV) <sup>b</sup>	Gamma ray energies (MeV) <sup>b</sup>
Po-215	. 84	Actinium A	1. <b>83 × 10−3</b> sec	a7.37(100)	
РЪ-211	. 82	Actinium B	36.1 min	β1.36(92), 0.95(1), 0.53(6), 0.25(1)	0.83(4), 0.70(1), 0.43(1), 0.40(4)
Bi-211	. 83	Actinium C <sup>e</sup>	2.16 min	¤6.62(83), 6.27(17)	0.35(14)
T1-207	81	Actinium C"	4.76 min	β1.47(100)	0.87(1)
РЪ-207	82	Actinium D	Stable		

<sup>a</sup> Compiled by W. M. Lowder from "Nuclear Data Sheets".

<sup>b</sup> Figures in parentheses indicate per cent yield per disintegration.

e Parallel decay branches of less than 1 per cent are not listed.

TABLE VII. SOME NON-SERIES PRIMORDIAL RADIO-ISOTOPES<sup>2</sup>, 111, 229

Isotope	Abundance in the litosphere (parts per million)	Half-life (years)	Alpha or beta ray energies (MeV)*	Gamma ray energies (MeV)*
K-40	3	1.3 × 109	β1.32(89)	1.46(11)
V-50	0.2	$5 \times 10^{14}$	Electron capture	0.71, 1.59
Rb-87	75	$4.7  imes 10^{10}$	β0.27(100)	
In-115	0.1	6 × 1014	β0.6(100)	
La-138	0.01	$1.1  imes 10^{11}$	¢0.20(30)	0.81(30), 1.43(70)
Sm-147	1	$1.2 \times 10^{11}$	a2.24	
Lu-176	0.01	$2.1  imes 10^{10}$	¢0.42(100)	0.088(100), 0.202(100), 0.309(100)

<sup>a</sup> Figures in parentheses indicate per cent yield per disintegration.

TABLE	VIII.	TYPICAL	CONCENTRATIONS	OF	Ra <sup>226</sup>	AND	DAUGHTERS	1N	CONTINENTAL	WATERS
				(pC	Ci/litre)	36				

	Ro=	Rn==	Pbno	Pozzo
Spa waters and				
deep wells	1–10	104–10 <sup>5</sup>	$< 0.1^{a}$	~ 0.02
Ground water	0.1-1	102-103	$< 0.1^{a}$	~ 0.01
Surface water	<1	10	< 0.5	
Rain-water		10 <sup>3</sup> –10 <sup>5 в</sup>	0.5–3	~ 0.5

<sup>a</sup> Below detection limits.

<sup>b</sup> As determined through presence of short-lived Rn<sup>222</sup> daughters.

	***	-		,										
TABLE	IX.	RECENT	DATA	(REPORTED	SINCE	1962)	ON	CONCENTRATION	OF	NATURAL	RADIO-ACTIVE	NUCLIDES	IN	WATER

	(	Concent	ration	in	pCi/l	litre)
--	---	---------	--------	----	-------	--------

Country or area	Source of water	Ra <sup>226</sup>	Razz	Rn <sup>222</sup>	Pbm	References
Australia	Surface reservoirs	0.1-0.2				232
BRAZIL, high background area of Morro di Ferro (volcanic intrusives)	Different sources Tap, wells and springs	11.9 (0.12-107) 0.3-1.6	0.2-3.2			233 104
BRAZIL, monazite area	Tap and wells	0.3	0.2-1.6			1 <b>04</b>
INDIA, normal areas	Tap water (Bombay) Surface waters Springs and wells	0.02 0.05- <b>0.6ª</b> 0.16-0. <b>5ª</b>				180 106 106
INDIA, monazite area of Kerala State	Shallow wells	0.14				180
Ichary	Surface waters Springs wells and	< 2		18-180		128
ISKAEL	boreholes Dead Sea (lake)	62		< 2-21, 300 20		128 128
JAPAN	Surface waters (rivers)	0.04-1.4				119
New Zealand	Artesian wells Surface waters			~ 0-1,000 0.3		234 2 <b>3</b> 4
Sweden	Tap water of varying origin (deep bored wells, inclusive)			~ 1,000 (100-33,000)		129
United States						
Illinois	Ground waters Raw surface waters Treated surface waters Raw well water			30-300	0.127 0.019 0.05	117, 165 15, 81, 117, 165 15, 81, 117, 165 15, 81, 117, 165
Florida	Thermal and mineral springs	0.3-3.3				121
South Carolina	Wells	1.4-2.8				235
Utah, near Great Salt Lake	Artesian wells	0.1-2.0		400-1,800		

<sup>a</sup> Including Ra<sup>223</sup> and Ra<sup>224</sup>.

TABLE X. ESTIMATES OF TOTAL INTAKE OF Ra<sup>226</sup> and of contributions from different foodstuff categories

			UNITED .	STATES			UNITED KINGDOM 155	П	VDIA180
- Calegory of foods	New York, N.Y.157	Consumers' Union Five-city Teenager New York, Chicago, San Francisco, San Juan, study <sup>188</sup> twenty-two- N.Y. <sup>181</sup> Ill. <sup>187</sup> Cal. <sup>187</sup> P.R. <sup>190</sup> city study <sup>180</sup>					Country-wide study	Bombay	Kerala State Monazite area
Cereals and grain									
products	0.56	0.76	0.51				0.17	0.41	1.48
Meat, fish, eggs	0.38	0.37	0.28				0.38		
Milk and dairy pro- ducts	0.14	0.12	0.13				0.14	0.04	0.19
Green vegetables, fruits and pulses	0.81	0.56	0.48				0.32	0.17	0.81
Root vegetables	0.40	0.22	0.26				0.10	0.02ª	0.07ª
Water	~ 0.02	~ 0.03	~ 0.01				0.07	0.06	0.29
Total pCi/day	~ 2.3	~ 2.1	~ 1.7	~ 0.7	$\sim 3$ (2.2-4.3)	~ 5 (2.5-6.5)	~ 1.2	~ 0.7	~ 2.8
pCi Ra <sup>226</sup> /g Ca	2.2	2.0	1.6	1.3	1.9	2.5	1.1		

<sup>1</sup> Miscellaneous.

-

Location of area	¢Ci∕g ash	¢Ci∕g Ca	Total <sup>a</sup> in the skeleton (pCi)	References
	NORMAL A	REAS		
CENTRAL AMERICA				
United States				
Puerto Rico	0.006	0.017	17	190
EUROPE				
Federal Republic of Germany	0.013	0.040	36	203
United Kingdom	0.008-0.02			
NORTH AMERICA				
United States				
Illinois	0.012 <sup>b</sup>		32	183
New England	0.014		39	209
New York, N.Y.	0.012	0.032	32	186
Rochester, N.Y.	0.010; 0.017		28, 48	204
San Francisco, Cal.	0.0096	0.026	27	186
	HIGH LEVEL	AREAS		
Asia				
India				
State of Kerala	0.096		~ 270	180, 216
(monazite area)	(0.03-0.14)			
NORTH AMERICA				
United States				
Illinois	0.037c		~ 100	165
Illinois	0.028°		78	183

TABLE XI.	Ra <sup>226</sup>	IN	HUMAN	BONE	AS	REPORTED	AFTER	1962
-----------	-------------------	----	-------	------	----	----------	-------	------

<sup>a</sup> Skeleton of 7,000 g fresh weight yielding 2,800 g ash was assumed.
<sup>b</sup> In people consuming water with "normal" levels of Ra<sup>226</sup>.
<sup>c</sup> In people consuming water with elevated Ra<sup>228</sup> concentration.

TABLE XII. Pb<sup>210</sup> and Po<sup>210</sup> in human bone

(Number of samples in brackets)

	Pl	520	P	020	Potio	Total Posto	
Ares or location	pCi/g fresh bone	Ci/g fresh pCi/g ash pCi/g fresh pCi/g bone bone		₽Ci∕g ash	Pbro	in the skeleton <sup>s</sup> (pCi)	References
**************************************		Nor	MAL AREAS				
FEDERAL REPUBLIC OF GERMANY	$\begin{cases} 0.032 \\ (20) \end{cases}$	0.11 (20)	0.031 (20)	0.13 (20)	1	290	213
	0.037	• •	Ò.C30	. ,	0.8	210	203
POLAND	0.040 (20)					250	237
	0.026					160	238
UNITED KINGDOM	J		0.017			120	239
			(6) 0.017 (9)			120	214
UNITED STATES	-						
Illinois (mostly)		0.150 (128)			1	410	165
Illinois		0.080 (32)				200	183
New England		0.140				360	209
Rochester, N.Y	0.015	(20)				95	212
San Juan, P.R	(10)	0.120 (28)				300	240
CANADA (Eskimos)	0.140 [0.08-0.71] (10)	Нісн	LEVEL AREA	AS		960	193

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Calculated directly from  $Po^{210}$  or from data on  $Pb^{210}$ . In the latter case, if no data for  $Po^{210}/Pb^{210}$  ratio were reported the value of 0.9 was assumed. Skeleton of 7,000 g fresh weight yielding 2,800 g ash was further assumed. If the data were reported both for fresh tissue and tissue ash, the values in pCi/g ash were used to estimate the total skeletal burden.

#### TABLE XIII. NATURAL ALPHA EMITTING RADIO-NUCLIDES IN HUMAN SOFT TISSUES IN AREAS OF NORMAL BACKGROUND RADIO-ACTIVITY VALUES ARE GIVEN IN pCi/kg fresh weight

Tissue	Ra220	T k = ===	Pono
Soft tissues in general	~ 0.1203, 206	~ 0.04203	~ 3203
Liver	$\sim 0.2^{204}$	_	11-17116, 193, 198, 203, 214, 239
Kidney	0.1204	_	5-17193, 198, 203, 214, 239
Gonads	_	_	3_4193, 198, 214, 239
Spleen	0.1204	_	3203, 239, 240
Lung	_	_	2_5193, 198, 214, 228, 239
Skeletal muscle	0.06204		1-6165, 193, 203, 239

For Po<sup>210</sup> the ranges include the average values reported by various authors

TABLE XIV.	Ra <sup>226</sup>	IN	HUMAN	TEETH	FROM	DIFFERENT	AREAS
------------	-------------------	----	-------	-------	------	-----------	-------

Locality	Mean	Range	References	Remarks
		NORMAL AREAS		
Brazil				
Vitoria	0.030	0.008-0.079 (14)	215	
Rio de Janeiro	0.037	0.006-0.123	215	
Poços de Caldas	0.015	0.006-0.031 (13)	215	
UNITED STATES				
New England	0.016	0.01–0.062 (25)	209	
Ar	EAS OF HIG	H TERRESTRIAL RA	DIO-ACTIVITY	
Bp 47II				
Guarapari	0.036	0.006-0.104	215	Monazite sand areas
Meaipe	0.023	0.006-0.077	215	Monazite sand areas
Araxa and Tapira	0.077	0.008–0.204 (52)	215	Areas of high radio- activity due to vol- canic intrusives

Values in pCi/g ash; number of samples in parentheses

TABLE XV. Po<sup>210</sup> content of vegetables and animal tissues<sup>193</sup>

Materials	Number of samples	Po <sup>mo</sup> specific activity (pCi/kg)	Pb <sup>210</sup> /Po <sup>210</sup> activity ratio	Materials	Number of samples	Po <sup>no</sup> specific activity (pCi/kg)	Pbz10/Po210 activity ratio
Grass (dried) United				Beef and lamb kidney		-	
Kingdom	. 24	<b>400–16,0</b> 00	1-5	(United Kingdom)	3	48-270	0.05-1
Dry lichen (Caloplaca				Lamb kidney (north Wales)	6	90-1.800	0.2
elegans) United Kingdom	1 2	7,800; 10,000	1	Reindeer (Lapland) sum-	•		
Dry lichen (Cladonia				mer killed			
alpestris) Lapland	. 3	6,600-8,100	1	Muscle	6	15-50	_
Dry lichen (Cladonia		, ,		Liver	5	350-750	_
alpestris) Canada	1	3,500	1	Kidney	4	110-490	_
Edible green vegetables		·		Reindeer (Canada, North-			
(United Kingdom)	. 5	6-90	1-3	west Territory) winter			
Carrots and potatoes				killed			
(United Kingdom)	2	1	_	Muscle	2	200; 210	_
Breads and cereals				Liver	2 :	2,400; 5,600	_
(United Kingdom)	4	1-7	—	Kidney	2 .	4.200 ; 2.300	_
Dried milk powder				Spleen	1	980	—
(United Kingdom)	3	2-6	_	Cockles (United Kingdom.			
Beef and lamb muscle				east and west coasts)	3	400-900	0.1-0.2
(United Kingdom)	2	3;3	-	Crab (United Kingdom.			
Beef and lamb liver		-		south coast)	2	1,300; 1,400	_
(United Kingdom)	3	4-100	0.7	Plankton (south Pacific)	1	2,000	_

۰.

# TABLE XVI. INTERNAL DOSES FROM NATURAL RADIO-ACTIVITY ;ª VALUES IN MILLIRADS PER YEAR (In parentheses, fraction in per cent of total yearly dose derived from alpha radiation)

	Gonads	Bone		n
Nuclide		Haversian canals (50 µ diameter)	Osteocytes (50 µ diameter)	— Bone marrow (trabecular bone)
K40	20	15	15	15
Rb <sup>87</sup>	0.3	< 0.3	< 0.3	< 0.3
C14	0.7	1.6	1.6	1.6
Ra <sup>226</sup>	e	0.6 <sup>f</sup> , d	1.4r. d	0.03f
Ra228	e	0.7f, b	1.1ť, b	0.03f
> <sub>0</sub> 210	0.31	2.1f, c	4.2f. c	0.31
Rn222	0.31	0.3ť	0.3f	0.3ť
TOTAL	21.6	20.3	23.6	17.3
	(3)	(18)	(30)	(4)

<sup>a</sup> Doses of alpha radiation to tissues of respiratory tract are discussed in paragraphs 141-148. The highest doses are most probably those delivered to basal layers of bronchial epithelium in segmental and lobar bronchi. They may reach the level of some hundreds of millirads per year at assumed average concentrations of  $Po^{218}$ ,  $Pb^{214}$  and  $Po^{214}$ . <sup>b</sup> Accepted concentration of  $Ra^{228}$  (in equilibrium with daughter products) of  $1.4 \times 10^{-3}$ 

pCi/g fresh bone. • Accepted concentration of  $Po^{210}$  of  $3.3 \times 10^{-2}$  pCi/g fresh bone. • Accepted concentration of  $Po^{210}$  of  $3.3 \times 10^{-2}$  pCi/g fresh bone. • Accepted concentration of  $Ra^{226}$  (plus one-third of short-lived daughter products through  $Po^{214}$ ) of  $4.3 \times 10^{-3}$  pCi/g fresh bone. • Doses to gonads from  $Ra^{226}$  and daughter products and  $Ra^{228}$  and daughter products could not be estimated with reasonable accuracy. The upper limits seem to be 0.02 and 0.03 mrad/year, respectively. • Doses of alpha radiation.

#### TABLE XVII. DOSE RATES DUE TO EXTERNAL AND INTERNAL IRRADIATION FROM NATURAL SOURCES IN "NORMAL" AREAS

	Dose rates (mrad/y)				
Source of irradiation	Gonads	Haversian canal	Bone marrow	Paragraphs	
External irradiation					
Cosmic rays					
Ionizing component	28 28	28 28	28 28	48	
Neutrons	0.7	0.7	0.7	49	
Terrestrial radiation	2,5	2.5	2.2		
(including air)	50 50	50 <i>50</i>	50 <i>50</i>	58	
Internal irradiation					
K40	20 20	15 15	15 75	136	
Rb <sup>87</sup>	0.3	< 0.3	< 0.3	136	
C <sup>14</sup>	0.7	1.6	1.6	136	
Ra <sup>226</sup>		0.6	0.03	135-139	
Ra <sup>228</sup>		0.7	0.03	135–139	
Po <sup>210</sup>	0.3	2.1	0.3	135–139	
Rn <sup>222</sup> (dissolved in tissues)	0.3	0.3	0.3	135–139	
Totala	100 102	99 99	96 98		
Percentage from alpha					
particles and neutrons	1.3 3	4.4 2.8	1.4 3		

(In italics, estimates given in the 1962 report)

<sup>a</sup> Totals were rounded off to two significant figures.

- United Nations Scientific Committee on the Effects of Atomic Radiation, Report of the United Nations Scientific Committee on the Effects of Atomic Radiation. General Assembly document, 13th session, Suppl. No. 17 (A/3838). United Nations, N. Y., 1958.
- United Nations Scientific Committee on the Effects of Atomic Radiation, Report of the United Nations Scientific Committee on the Effects of Atomic Radiation. General Assembly document, 17th session. Suppl. No. 16 (A/5216). United Nations, N. Y., 1962.
- Dorman, L. I., Geophysical and astrophysical aspects of cosmic radiation, pp. 1-335 in Progress in Elementary Particle and Cosmic Ray Physics, vol. VII. Wilson, J. G., S. A. Wouthuysen, eds., North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 1963.
- Elliot, H., Time variations of cosmic ray intensity, pp. 453-514 in Progress in Elementary Particle and Cosmic Ray Physics, vol. I. Wilson, J. G., S. A. Wouthuysen, eds., North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 1952.
- May, H., L. D. Marinelli, Cosmic-ray contribution to the background of low-level scintillation spectrometers, chap. 29, pp. 463-480 in The Natural Radiation Environment. Adams, J. A. S., W. M. Lowder, eds., The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Ill., 1964.
- Peters, B.. The nature of primary cosmic radiation, pp. 191-242 in Progress in Elementary Particle and Cosmic Ray Physics, vol. I. Wilson, J. G., S. A. Wouthuysen, eds., North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 1952.
- Peters, B., Cosmic rays, chap. 12, part 9, pp. 9-201 - 9-244 in Handbook of Physics. Condon, E. U., H. Odishaw, eds., McGraw-Hill Book Co., N. Y., 1958.
- 8. Rossi, B., Cosmic Rays. McGraw-Hill, N. Y., 1964.
- 9. Sandström, A. E., Cosmic Ray Physics. John Wiley & Sons, N. Y., 1965.
- Singer, S. F., The primary cosmic radiation and its time variations, pp. 205-335 in Progress in Elementary Particle and Cosmic Ray Physics, vol. IV. Wilson, J. G., S. A. Wouthuysen, eds.. North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 1958.
- Waddington, C. J., The composition of the primary cosmic radiation. pp. 3-45 in Progress in Nuclear Physics, vol. 8. Frisch. O. R., ed., Pergamon Press. N. Y., 1960.
- Hopper, V. D., Cosmic Radiation and High Energy Interactions. Prentice-Hall, Inc., Englewood Cliffs, N. J., 1964.
- Forbush, S. E., Solar influences on cosmic rays. Proc. Nat'l. Acad. Sci. (US) 43: 28-41 (1957).
- Simpson, J. A., Solar origin of changes in the primary cosmic radiation. Proc. Nat'l. Acad. Sci. (US) 43: 42-56 (1957).

- McDonald, F. B., Review of galactic and solar cosmic rays. NASA, Goddard Space Flight Center report X-611-65-94 (1965).
- McDonald, F. B., C. H. Ludwig, V. K. Balasubrahmanyan, Low energy galactic cosmic ray results from IMP-1, p. 966 in Space Research V. King-Hele, D. G., P. Muller, G. Righini, eds., North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 1965.
- Webber, W. R., Time variations of low rigidity cosmic rays during the recent sunspot cycle, pp. 75-244 in Progress in Elementary Particle and Cosmic Ray Physics, vol. VI. Wilson, J. G., S. A. Wouthuysen, eds., North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 1962.
- Lowder, W. M., H. L. Beck, Cosmic ray ionization in the lower atmosphere. J. Geophysical Res. In press.
- 19. Lillicrap, S. C., Determination of the energy absorbed in water from relativistic cosmic ray particles using the Čerenkov effect. Phys. Med. Biol. 10: 17-24 (1965).
- Puppi, G., N. Dallaporta, The equilibrium of the cosmic ray beam in the atmosphere, pp. 315-391 in Progress in Elementary Particle and Cosmic Ray Physics, vol. I. Wilson. J. G., S. A. Wouthuysen, eds.. North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 1952.
- Harvey, B. G., Spallation, pp. 89-121 in Progress in Nuclear Physics, vol. 7. Frisch, O. R., ed., Pergamon Press, N. Y., 1959.
- 22. Geiger, K. W., Evaporation neutrons from cosmic ray nuclear interactions in various elements. Canadian J. Phys. 34: 288-303 (1956).
- 23. Korff. S. A., Production of neutrons by cosmic radiation, chap. 26, pp. 427-440 in The Natural Radiation Environment. Adams, J. A. S., W. M. Lowder, eds., The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Ill., 1964.
- 24. Lord, J. J.. The altitude and latitude variation in the rate of occurrence of nuclear disintegrations produced in the stratosphere by cosmic rays. Phys. Rev. 81: 901-909 (1951).
- Neher, H. V., Recent data on geomagnetic effects, pp. 243-314 in Progress in Elementary Particle and Cosmic Ray Physics, vol. I. Wilson, J. G., S. A. Wouthuysen, eds., North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 1952.
- 26. Pomerantz, M. A., S. P. Agarwal. Spatial distribution of cosmic ray intensity and geomagnetic theory. Philosophical Mag. 7: 1503-1511 (1962).
- 27. Quenby, J. J., G. J. Wenk, Cosmic ray threshold rigidities and the earth's magnetic field. Philosophical Mag. 7: 1457-1485 (1962).
- Simpson, J. A., Neutrons produced in the atmosphere by cosmic radiations. Phys. Rev. 83: 1175-1188 (1951).
- 29. Puppi, G., The energy balance of cosmic radiation, pp. 339-388 in Progress in Elementary Particle and Cosmic Ray Physics. vol. III. Wilson, J. G.,

S. A. Wouthuysen, eds., North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 1956,

- Malhotra, P. K., P. G. Shukla, S. A. Stephens, et al., Energy spectrum of primary cosmic-rays. Nature 209: 567-569 (1966).
- Lingenfelter, R. E., Production of carbon-14 by cosmic-ray neutrons. Review of Geophysics 1: 35-55 (1963).
- 32. Lal, D., B. Peters, Cosmic ray produced isotopes and their application to problems in geophysics, chap. I. pp. 3-74 in Progress in Elementary Particle and Cosmic Ray Physics, vol. VI. Wilson, J. G., S. A. Wouthuysen, eds., North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 1962.
- Haxel, O., G. Schumann, Erzeugung radioaktiver Kernarten durch die kosmische Strahlung, pp. 97-135 in Nuclear Radiation in Geophysics. Israël, H., A. Krebs, eds., Academic Press, N. Y., 1962.
- 34. Кароль И. Л., Малахов С. Г., Применение естественных радноактивных изотопов в атмосфере для метеорологических исследований, стр. 5-42 в книге: Вопросы ядерной метеорологии. Кароль И. Л., Малахов С. Г., ред., Госатомиздат, Москва, 1962; v.e. USAEC report AEC-tr-6128, pp. 1-51 (1962).
- 35. Perkins, J., M. Nielsen, Cosmic-ray produced radionuclides in the environment. Health Physics 11: 1297-1304 (1965).
- 36. Adams, J. A. S., Geochemical studies of the level of natural radiation exposure to the population. Houston, Texas. To be published.
- Junge, E., Air Chemistry and Radioactivity. Academic Press, N. Y., 1963.
- Rödel, W., Cosmic-ray-produced and artificial sodium 22 in the atmosphere. J. Geophysical Res. 70: 4447-4452 (1965).
- Lal, D., Study of long and short-term geophysical processes using natural radioactivity, pp. 149-157 in Radioactive Dating. IAEA, Vienna, 1963.
- Hagemann, F. T., J. Gray, Jr., L. Machta, Carbon-14 measurements in the atmosphere—1953 to 1964. Health and Safety Laboratory report HASL-159, 1 April 1965; v.e. United Nations document A/AC.82/G/L.1003.
- 41. Korff, S. A., R. B. Mendell, S. S. Holt, Measurements of the neutrons produced by the cosmic radiation. To be published.
- Soberman, R. K., High altitude cosmic-ray neutron intensity variations. Phys. Rev. 102: 1399-1409 (1956).
- 43. Miyake, S., K. Hinotani, K. Nunogaki. Intensity and energy spectrum of fast neutrons in cosmic radiation. J. Phys. Soc. (Japan) 12: 113-121 (1957).
- 44. Hess, W. N., E. H. Canfield, R. E. Lingenfelter, Cosmic-ray neutron demography. J. Geophysical Res. 66: 665-677 (1961).
- 45. Reidy, W. P., R. C. Haymes, S. A. Korff, A measurement of slow cosmic-ray neutrons up to 200 kilometres. J. Geophysical Res. 67: 459-465 (1962).
- 46. Kastner, J., B. G. Oltman, L. D. Marinelli, Progress report on flux and spectrum measurements of the cosmic-ray neutron background, chap. 27, pp. 441-448 in The Natural Radiation Environment. Adams, J. A. S., W. M. Lowder,

eds., The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Ill., 1964.

- Boella, G., G. Degli Antoni, C. Dilworth, et al., Measurement of the cosmic ray neutron flux in the atmosphere. Nuovo Cimento 29: 103-117 (1963).
- Boella, G., G. Degli Antoni, C. Dilworth, et al., Measurement of cosmic ray neutron flux at 4.6 BeV geomagnetic cutoff rigidity. J. Geophysical Res. 70: 1019-1030 (1965).
- 49. Boella, G., G. Degli Antoni, C. Dilworth, et al., Albedo neutron flux at 4.6 BeV geomagnetic cut-off rigidity, p. 617 in Space Research V. King-Hele, D. G., P. Muller, G. Righini, eds., North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 1965.
- 50. Bernardini, G., G. Cortini, A. Manfredini, On the nuclear evaporation in cosmic rays and the absorption of the nucleonic component. Phys. Rev. 76: 1792-1797 (1949).
- Newkirk, L. L., Calculation of low-energy neutron flux in the atmosphere by the Sn method. J. Geophys. Res. 68: 1825-1833 (1963).
- 52. Hess, W. N., H. W. Patterson, R. Wallace, et al., Cosmic ray neutron energy spectrum. Phys. Rev. 116: 445-457 (1959).
- 53. Tajima, E., M. Adachi, T. Doke, *et al.*, Spectrum of cosmic ray produced neutrons. To be published.
- 54. Haymes, R. C., S. A. Korff, Slow neutron intensity at high balloon altitudes. Phys. Rev. 120: 1460-1462 (1960).
- 55. Mendell, R. B., S. A. Korff, Fast neutron flux in the atmosphere. J. Geophysical Res. 68: 5487-5495 (1963).
- 56. Bame, S. J., J. P. Conner, F. B. Brumley, et al., Neutron flux and energy spectrum above the atmosphere. J. Geophysical Res. 68: 1221-1228 (1963).
- 57. Miles, R. F., Density of cosmic-ray neutrons in the atmosphere. J. Geophysical Res. 69: 1277-1284 (1964).
- 58. Haymes, R. C., Fast neutrons in the earth's atmosphere. 1. Variation with depth. J. Geo-physical Res. 69: 841-852 (1964).
- Hill, C. R., D. S. Woodhead, Tissue dose due to neutrons of cosmic-ray origin, chap. 28, pp. 449-461 in The Natural Radiation Environment. Adams, J. A. S., W. M. Lowder, eds., The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Ill., 1964.
- Kastner, J., B. G. Oltman, L. D. Marinelli, et al., Measurement of the cosmic-ray fast neutron background, pp. 71-76 in Argonne National Laboratory Radiological Physics Division Annual Report, July 1963 through June 1964, ANL-6938.
- International Commission on Radiological Protection, Task Group on the Biological Effects of High-Energy Radiations, Radiobiological aspects of the supersonic transport. Health Physics 12: 209-226 (1966).
- 62. Shamos, M. H., A. Liboff, J. Siderowitz, Thinwall ion chambers for low-level radiation environment, chap. 37, pp. 627-641 in The Natural Radiation Environment. Adams, J. A. S., W. M. Lowder. eds., The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Ill., 1964.
- 63. Appendix 3. Intercalibration experiment, *ibid.*, pp. 1029-1032.

- 64. Herbst, W., Investigations of environmental radiation and its variability, *ibid.*, chap. 48, pp. 781-796.
- 65. Shamos, M. H., A. R. Liboff, A new measurement of the sea level cosmic ray ionization intensity. To be published.
- 66. Kastner, J., Private communication.
- 67. International Commission on Radiological Protection. Report of the RBE Committee to the International Commissions on Radiological Protection and on Radiological Units and Measurements. Health Physics 9: 357-386 (1963).
- 68. Rossi, H. H., Absorbed dose *versus* kerma. Health Physics 11: 779-780 (1965).
- 69. National Bureau of Standards, Radiation quantities and units, International Commission on Radiological Units and Measurements (ICRU), Report 10a. United States Department of Commerce, NBS Handbook 84 (1962).
- 70. Patterson, H. W., W. N. Hess, B. J. Moyer, et al., The flux and spectrum of cosmic-ray produced neutrons as a function of altitude. Health Physics 2: 69-72 (1959).
- National Bureau of Standards, Protection against neutron radiation up to 30 million electron volts. United States Department of Commerce. NBS Handbook 63 (1957).
- Rossi, H. H., Neutron and heavy-particle dosimetry, pp. 98-107 in Radiation Dosimetry. Reed, G. W., ed., Academic Press, N. Y., 1964.
- 73. Baarli, J., A. H. Sullivan, Radiation dosimetry for protection purposes near high energy particle accelerators. Health Physics 11: 353-361 (1965).
- Turner, J. E., C. D. Zeroy, R. L. Woodyard, et al., Calculation of radiation dose from protons to 400 MeV. Health Physics 10: 783-808 (1964).
- 75. Snyder, W. S., J. Neufeld, Calculated depth dose curves in tissue for broad beams of fast neutrons. British J. Radiology 28: 342-350 (1955).
- Neufeld, J., W. S. Snyder, J. E. Turner, et al., Calculation of radiation dose from protons and neutrons to 400 MeV. Health Physics 12: 227-237 (1966).
- 77. Bercovitch, M., H. Carmichael, G. C. Hanna, et al., Yield of neutrons per interaction in U, Pb, W, and Sn by protons of six energies between 250 and 900 MeV selected from cosmic radiation. Phys. Rev. 119: 412-431 (1960).
- Citron, A., L. Hoffman, C. Passow, Investigation of the nuclear cascade in shielding materials. Nuclear Instruments and Methods 14: 97-100 (1961).
- 79. May, H. A., Neutron production in massive shields and effect upon the low-energy gamma-ray background. pp. 50-65 in Argonne National Laboratory Radiological Physics Division Semiannual Report. January through June 1962, ANL-6646.
- Spiers, F. W., M. J. McHugh, D. B. Appleby, Environmental γ-ray dose to populations: Surveys made with a portable meter, pp. 885-905 in The Natural Radiation Environment. Adams, J. A. S., W. M. Lowder, eds., The University of Chicago Press. Chicago, 111, 1964.
- Gustafson. P. F., J. Kastner, J. Luetzelschwab, Environmental radiation measurements of cose rates. Science 145: 44-47 (1964).

- Lowder, W. M., A. Segall, W. J. Condon, Environmental radiation survey in northern New England, chap. 56, pp. 907-917 in The Natural Radiation Environment. Adams, J. A. S., W. M. Lowder, eds., The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Ill., 1964.
- Beck, H. L., W. M. Lowder, B. G. Bennett, et al., Further studies of external environmental radiation. USAEC report HASL-170 (1966).
- 84. Lowder, W. M., W. J. Condon, H. L. Beck, Field spectrometric investigations of environmental radiation in the U.S.A., chap. 35, pp. 597-616 in The Natural Radiation Environment. Adams, J. A. S., W. M. Lowder, eds., The University of Chicago Press. Chicago, Ill., 1964.
- 85. Foote, R. S., Time variation of terrestrial  $\gamma$ -radiation, *ibid.*, chap. 46, pp. 757-766.
- 86. Gustafson, P. F., S. S. Brar, Measurement of  $\gamma$ -emitting radionuclides in soil and calculation of the dose arising therefrom, *ibid.*, chap. 31, pp. 499-512.
- 87. Adams, J. A. S., Laboratory  $\gamma$ -ray spectrometer for geochemical studies, *ibid.*, chap. 30, pp. 485-497.
- Adams, J. A. S., G. E. Fryer, Portable γ-ray spectrometer for field determination of thorium, uranium, and potassium, *ibid.*, chap. 34 pp. 577-596.
- Beck, H. L., W. J. Condon, W. M. Lowder, Spectrometric techniques for measuring environmental gamma radiation. USAEC report HASL-150 (1964).
- Appendix 2, Editor's postscript, pp. 1025-1027 in The Natural Radiation Environment. Adams, J. A. S., W. M. Lowder, eds., The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Ill., 1964.
- Lowder, W. M., H. L. Beck, W. J. Condon, spectrometric determination of dose rates from natural and fall-out gamma-radiation in the United States, 1962-63. Nature 202: 745-749 (1964).
- 92. Beck, H. L., W. J. Condon, W. M. Lowder, Environmental measurements in the South-eastern, Central and Western United States, 1962-1963. USAEC report HASL-145; v.e. United Nations document A/AC.82/G/L.939.
- 93. Tanner, A. B., Radon migration in the ground: a review, chap. 9, pp. 161-190 in The Natural Radiation Environment. Adams, J. A. S., W. M. Lowder, eds., The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Ill., 1964.
- 94. Osburn, W. S., Primordial radionuclides: their distribution, movement, and possible effect within terrestrial ecosystems. Health Physics 11: 1275-1295 (1965).
- 95. Sievert, R. M., Note on the increase of gamma radiation from the ground during September 1st-November 30th, 1961. Tellus 15: 309-312 (1963).
- Thompson, T., P. A. Wiberg, Some observations of variations of the natural background radiation. Tellus 15: 313-318 (1963).
- 97. Swedjemark, G. A., Gamma radiation at ground level in Sweden during 1960-1965. National Institute of Radiation Protection, Stockholm, Sweden, 1966.
- 98. Spiers, F. W., Gamma-ray dose-rates to human tissues from external sources in Great Britain,

pp. 66-70, appendix D *in* The Hazards to Man of Nuclear and Allied Radiations. Second Report of the Medical Research Council, HMSO, Cmnd. 1225 (1960); *v.e.* United Nations document A/AC.82/G/L.555.

- Sievert, R. M., B. Hultqvist, Variations in natural gamma radiation in Sweden. Acta Radiol. 37: 388-398 (1952); v.e. United Nations document A/AC.82/G/R.15, part 2.
- 100. Doke. T., H. Takahashi, T. Higashimura. et al., External gamma dose rates from natural radionuclides in Japan. Scientific Papers of the Institute of Physical and Chemical Research 56: 40-46 (1962).
- Pinkerton, C., W. Y. Chen, R. G. Hutchins, et al., Background radioactivity monitoring of a pilot study community in Washington County, Maryland, chap. 57, pp. 919-956 in The Natural Radiation Environment. Adams, J. A. S., W. M. Lowder, eds., The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Ill., 1964.
- Lowder, W. M., W. J. Condon, Measurement of the exposure of human populations to environmental radiation. Nature 206: 658-662 (1965).
- Roser, F. X., T. L. Cullen, External radiation levels in high-background regions of Brazil, chap. 51, pp. 825-836 in The Natural Radiation Environment. Adams, J. A. S., W. M. Lowder, eds., The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Ill., 1964.
- 104. Eisenbud, M., H. Petrow, R. T. Drew, et al., Naturally occurring radionuclides in foods and waters from the Brazilian areas of high radioactivity, *ibid.*, chap. 52, pp. 837-854.
- Roser, F. X., T. L. Cullen, Radiogeology of some high-background areas of Brazil, *ibid.*, chap. 53, pp. 855-872.
- 106. Kamath, P. R., A. A. Khan, S. R. Rao, et al., Environmental natural radioactivity measurements at Trombay Establishment, *ibid.*, chap. 58, pp. 957-978.
- 107. Roser, F. X., H. Gomes, N. Leal da Costa, et al., A study of natural and artificial radioactive contamination in Brazil, 1965. USAEC report NYO-2577, report No. 2 (1965).
- 108. Hyde, E. K., p. 74 and p. 211 in The Nuclear Properties of the Heavy Elements, vol. III. Hyde, E. K., I. Perlman, G. T. Seaborg, eds., Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, N. J., 1964.
- 109. Горшков Г. В., Зябкин В. А., Цветков О. С., Выход нейтронов по реакции (а. п) из Ве, В, С, О, F, Mg. Al. Si и гранита под действием а-частиц полония. Атомная энергия 13: 65-67 (1962).
- Gurfinkel, Y., (a, n) reactions on heavy isotopes of oxygen. M.Sc. thesis, Hebrew University, Jerusalem, 1963.
- 111. Adams, J. A. S., Radioactivity of the lithosphere, pp. 1-17 in Nuclear Radiation in Geophysics. Israël, H., A. Krebs, eds., Academic Press, N. Y., 1962.
- 112. Koczy, F. F., J. N. Rosholt, Radioactivity in oceanography, *ibid.*, pp. 18-46.
- Suschny, O., Radioactive contamination of the oceans, chap. III, pp. 123-146 in Meteorological Aspects of Atmospheric Radioactivity. Bleeker, W. ed., WMO Technical Note No. 68, Geneva, Switzerland, 1965.

- Eriksson. E., Radioactivity in hydrology, pp. 47-60 in Nuclear Radiation in Geophysics. Israël, H., A. Krebs, eds., Academic Press, N. Y., 1962.
- 115. Wortley, G., Survey of radionuclides of natural origin in the soil-vegetation-human food chain. The Joint FAO/IAEA Division of Atomic Energy in Agriculture, Vienna, 1965; v.e. United Nations document A/AC.82/G/L.1037.
- 116. Geslin, N., P. Urbain, A study of the radioactivity of thermal waters and rocks in the area of Lamalou and Bedarieux (Herault). Bull. Soc. Franç. Miner. Crist. LXXXIV: 194-198 (1961).
- 117. Holtzman, R. B., Lead-210 (RaD) and polonium (RaF) in potable waters in Illinois, chap. 12, pp. 227-237 in The Natural Radiation Environment. Adams, J. A. S., W. M. Lowder, eds., The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Ill., 1964.
- 118. Lucas, H. F., Jr., F. H. Ilcewicz, The natural Ra-226 content of Illinois municipal waters, pp. 125-135 in Radiological Physics Division Semiannual Report, July through December 1957. Argonne National Laboratory report ANL-5829 (1958).
- 119. Miyake, Y., Y. Sugimura, H. Tsubota, Content of uranium, radium, and thorium in river waters in Japan, chap. 11, pp. 219-225 in The Natural Radiation Environment. Adams, J. A. S., W. M. Lowder, eds., The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, III., 1964.
- 120. Muth, H., B. Rajewski, H. J. Hantke. *et al.*, The normal radium content and the Ra<sup>226</sup>/Ca ratio of various foods, drinking water and different organs and tissues of the human body. Health Physics 2: 239-245 (1960).
- 121. Osmond, J. K., The distribution of the heavy radioelements in the rocks and waters of Florida, chap. 8, pp. 153-159 in The Natural Radiation Environment. Adams, J. A. S., W. M. Lowder, eds., The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Ill., 1964.
- 122. Samuels, L. D., A study of environmental exposure to radium in drinking water, *ibid*, chap. 13, pp. 239-251.
- 123. Turner, R. C., J. M. Radley, W. V. Mayneord, Naturally occurring alpha-activity of drinking waters. Nature 189: 348-352 (1961).
- 124. Weaver, L., A. W. Hoadley, S. Baker, Radioactivity in surface waters of the United States 1957-1962, pp. 306-316 in Radiological Health Data, vol. 4 (1963); v.e. United Nations document A/AC.82/G/L.851.
- 125. Белоусова И. М., Штуккенберг Ю. М., Естественная радиоактивность. Медгиз, Москва, 1961.
- 126. Muth, H., A. Schraub, K. Aurand, et al., Measurements of normal radium burdens. British J. Radiology, Suppl. No. 7: 54-66 (1957).
- 127. Lucas, H. F., Jr., Illinois municipal water supplies having unusually high concentration of Ra<sup>226</sup>, pp. 58-60 in Argonne National Laboratory Radiological Physics Division Semiannual Report, January through June 1958, ANL-5919.
- 128. Mazor, E., Radon and radium content of some Israeli water sources and a hypothesis on underground reservoirs of brines, oils and gases in the Rift Valley. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 26: 765-786 (1962).

- 129. Döbeln, W. von, B. Lindell, Some aspects of radon contamination following ingestion. Arkiv för Fysik 27: 531-572 (1964).
- 130. Hursh, J. B., D. A. Morken, T. P. Davis, et al., The fate of radon daughters ingested by man. Health Physics 11: 465-476 (1965).
- Israël, H., Die Natürliche und Künstliche Radioaktivität der Atmosphäre, pp. 76-96 in Nuclear Radiation in Geophysics. Israël, H., A. Krebs, eds., Academic Press, N. Y., 1962.
- 132. Kraner, H. W., G. L. Schroeder, R. D. Evans, Measurements of the effects of atmospheric variables on radon-222 flux and soil-gas concentrations, chap. 10, pp. 191-215 in The Natural Radiation Environment. Adams, J. A. S., W. M. Lowder, eds., The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Ill., 1964.
- 133. Кириченко Л. В., Вертикальное распределение продуктов распада радона в свободной атмосфере, стр. 75-103 в книге: Вопросы ядерной метеорологии. Кароль И. Л., Малахов С. Г., ред., Госатомиздат, Москва, 1962; *v.e.* USAEC report AEC-tr-6128, pp. 92-124 (1962).
- 134. Jacobi, W., The natural radioactivity of the atmosphere. Biophysik 1: 175-188 (1963).
- 135. Jacobi, W., The natural radioactivity of the atmosphere and its significance for the radiation protection of man. Hahn-Meitner-Institut für Kernforschung, Berlin, report HMI-B 21 (1962).
- 136. Jacobi, W., K. Andre. The vertical distribution of radon-222, radon-220 and their decay products in the atmosphere. J. Geophys. Res. 68: 3799-3814 (1963).
- Junge, C. E., Radioaktive Aerosole, pp. 169-201 in Nuclear Radiation in Geophysics. Israël, H., A. Krebs, eds., Academic Press, N. Y., 1962.
- 138. Havlovic, U., Natural radioactive aerosols in the ground-level air of a Czechoslovak locality with respect to the radiological exposure of its population. Health Physics 11: 553-566 (1965).
- 139. Fontan, J., A. Birot, D. Blanc, Variation de la concentration des gaz radioactifs naturels et de l'équilibre entre ces gaz et leurs descendants, dans l'air, au niveau du sol. Geofisica e meteorologia XIII: 80-87 (1964).
- 140. Burton, W. M., N. G. Stewart, Use of long-lived natural radioactivity as an atmospheric tracer. Nature 186: 584-589 (1960).
- 141. Lambert, G., M. Nezami, Determination of the mean residence time in the troposphere by measurement of the ratio between the concentrations of lead-210 and polonium-210. Nature 206: 1343-1344 (1965).
- 142. Lehmann, L., A. Sittkus, Bestimmung von Aerosolverweilzeiten aus dem RaD und RaF Gehalt der atmosphärischen Luft und des Niederschlages. Naturwissenschaften 46:9-10 (1959).
- 143. Karol. I. L., An estimate of the rate at which natural radioactive aerosols are removed from the atmosphere by clouds and rain. Izv. Akademii Nauk, Geophys. Ser. No. 11: 1718-1729 (1963).
- 144. Fry. L. M., K. K. Menon, Determination of the tropospheric residence time of lead-210. Science 137: 994-995 (1962).
- 145. Gat, J. R., G. Assaf, A. Miko, Disequilibrium between the short-lived radon daughter products in the lower atmosphere resulting from their

washout by rain. J. Geophysical Res. 71: 1525-1535 (1966).

- 146. Gold, S., H. Barkhan, B. Shleien, et al., Measurement of naturally occurring radionuclides in air, chap. 22. pp. 369-382 in The Natural Radiation Environment. Adams, J. A. S., W. M. Lowder, eds., The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Ill., 1964.
- 147. Kawano, M., S. Nakatani, Some properties of natural radioactivity in the atmosphere, *ibid.*, chap. 16. pp. 291-312.
- 148. Lockhart, L. B., Jr., Atmospheric radioactivity level at Yokosuka, Japan, 1954-1958. J. Geophysical Res. 64: 1445-1449 (1959).
- 149. Lockhart, L. B., Jr., Radioactivity of the radon-222 and radon-220 series in the air at ground level, chap. 18, pp. 331-344 in The Natural Radiation Environment. Adams, J. A. S., W. M. Lowder, eds., The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Ill., 1964.
- 150. Малахов С. Г., Ковда А. В., Соотношение между концентрациями радона и продуктов его распада в атмосферном воздухе, Изд-во АН СССР, Серия геофиз. № 5, стр. 789-792 (1961).
- 151. Moses, H., A. F. Stehney, H. F. Lucas, Jr., The meteorological variables upon the vertical and temporal distributions of atmospheric radon. J. Geophysical Res. 65: 1223-1238 (1960).
- 152. El-Nadi, A. F., H. M. Omar, Radon and thoron content in atmospheric air at Giza, Egypt. Geofisica Pura e Applicata 45: 261-266 (1960).
- 153. Murayama, N., Mean level of natural radioactivity in the surface air in Japan. To be published in J. Rad. Res. (Japan).
- 154. Малахов С. Г., Чернышева П. Г., О сезонных изменениях концентрации радона и торона в приземном слое атмосферы, стр. 81-92 в кн.: Радноактивные изотопы в атмосфере и их использование в метеорологии. Кароль И. Л., Кириченко Л. В., Краснопевцев Ю. В. и др., ред., Атомиздат, Москва. 1965.
- 155. Anderson, W., W. V. Mayneord, R. C. Turner, The radon content of the atmosphere. Nature 174: 424-426 (1954).
- 156. Behounek, F., M. Majerova, Radon content of the air. Nature 178: 1457 (1956).
- 157. Hosler, C. R., L. B. Lockhart, Simultaneous measurements of Rn<sup>222</sup>, Pb<sup>214</sup> and Bi<sup>214</sup> in air near ground. J. Geophysical Res. 70: 4537-4546 (1965).
- 158. Fontan, J., D. Blanc, A. Bouville, et al., Concentration of radon and thoron in the air above the Atlantic Ocean. J. Phys. 24: 165-166 (1963).
- 159. Lambert, G., G. Polian, Sur la diffusion à basse altitude des masses d'air continentales et océaniques dans chaque hémisphère. C. R. Acad. Sc. 256: 4265-4267 (1963).
- 160. Lockhart, L. B., Jr., R. L. Patterson, Jr., A. W. Saunders, Jr., Atmospheric radioactivity in Antarctica 1956-1963. U.S. Naval Research Laboratory report NRL-6341 (1965); v.e. United Nations document A/AC.82/G/L.1068.
- 161. Lambert, G., G. Polian, Etude de la radioactivité naturelle de l'atmosphère aux Iles Kerguelen et en Terre Adélie. Comité national français des recherches antarctiques, No. 12 (1965).

3

- 162. Israël, H., The radon-220 content of the atmosphere, comment on chapter 16, pp. 313-314 in The Natural Radiation Environment. Adams, J. A. S., W. M. Lowder, eds., The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Ill., 1964.
- 163. Israël, G. W.. Thoron (Rn-220) measurements in the atmosphere and their application in meteorology. Tellus 17: 383-388 (1965).
- 164. Patterson, R. L., Jr., L. B. Lockhart, Jr., Geographical distribution of lead-210 (RaD) in the ground-level air, pp. 383-392 in The Natural Radiation Environment. Adams, J. A. S., W. M. Lowder, eds., The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, III., 1964.
- 165. Holtzman, R. B., Measurement of the natural contents of RaD (Pb<sup>210</sup>) and RaF (Po<sup>210</sup>) in human bone—estimates of whole-body burdens. Health Physics 9: 385-400 (1963).
- 166. Lambert, G., M. Nezami, Importance des retombées sèches dans le bilan du plomb 210. Annales de Géophysique 21 : 245-251 (1965).
- 167. Виленский В. Д., Давыдов Е. Н., Малахов С. Г., К вопросу о сезонных и географических изменениях содержания свинца-210 в атмосфере, стр. 120-131 в книге: Радноактивные изотопы в атмосфере и их использование в метеорологии. Кароль И. Л., Кириченко Л. В., Краснопевцев Ю. В. и др., ред., Атомиздат, Москва, 1965.
- 168. Peirson, D. H., R. S. Cambray, G. S. Spicer, Lead-210 and polonium-210 in the atmosphere. Paper presented at the Symposium on Atmospheric Chemistry, Circulation and Aerosols, August 18-25, 1965, Visby, Sweden.
- 169. Nezami, M., G. Lambert, C. Lorius, et al., Mesure du taux d'accumulation de la neige au bord du continent antarctique par la méthode du plomb 210. C. R. Acad. Sc. (Paris) 259: 3319-3322 (1964).
- 170. Altshuler, B., N. Nelson, M. Kuschner, Estimation of lung tissue dose from the inhalation of radon and daughters. Health Physics 10: 1137-1161 (1964).
- 171. Oosthuizen, S. F., W. G. Pyne-Mercier, T. Fichardt, et al. Experience in radiological protection in South Africa, pp. 25-31 in Proc. 2nd Int'l. Conf. Peaceful Uses Atomic Energy, vol. 21. United Nations, Geneva, 1958.
- 172. Schroeder, G. L., R. D. Evans, Effect of applied pressures on the radon characteristics of an underground mine environment, pp. 122-159 in Radium and Mesothorium Poisoning and Dosimetry and Instrumentation Techniques in Applied Radioactivity. Massachusetts Institute of Technology report MIT-952-2 (1965).
- 173. United States Department of Health, Education and Welfare, Public Health Service, Control of Radon and Daughters in Uranium Mines and Calclulations on Biological Effects. Public Health Service Publ. No. 494 (1957).
- 174. Mistry, K. B., Absorption by plants of naturally occurring radioactive materials, pp. 86-89 in Agricultural Research Council Radiobiological Laboratory Annual Report 1962-63, ARCRL 10 (1963); v.e. United Nations document A/AC.82/G/L.858.
- 175. Squire, H. M., Tracer studies on the absorption of thorium, *ibid.*, p. 90.

- 176. Mayneord, W. V., R. C. Turner, J. M. Radley, Alpha activity of certain botanical materials. Nature 187: 208-211 (1960).
- 177. Mistry, K. B., A. R. Gopal-Ayengar, K. G. Bharathan, On the radioactivity of plants from the high radiation areas of the Kerala coast and adjoining regions. II. Studies on the uptake of alpha and gamma emitters. Health Physics 11: 1459-1470 (1965).
- 178. Lowder, W. M., L. R. Solon, Background radiation—A literature search. USAEC report NYO-4712 (1956); v.e. United Nations document A/ AC.82/G/R.55.
- 179. Penna Franca, E., C. Costa Ribeiro, M. Teitakowski, et al., Survey of radioactive content of food grown on Brazilian areas of high natural radioactivity. Health Physics 11: 1471-1484 (1965).
- Chhabra, A. S., Radium-226 in food and man in Bombay and Kerala State (India). British J. Radiol. 39: 141-146 (1966).
- Turner, R. C., The ingestion of radium-226 in food and water in Great Britain. British J. Cancer 16: 200-208 (1962).
- 182. Lucas, H. F., Correlation of the natural radioactivity of the human body to that of its environment: Uptake and retention of Ra<sup>226</sup> from food and water, pp. 55-66 in Argonne National Laboratory Radiological Physics Division Semiannual Report, July through December 1960, ANL-6297 (1961).
- Lucas, H. F., Jr., R. B. Holtzman, D. C. Dahlin, Radium-226, radium-228, lead-210 and fluorine in persons with osteogenic sarcoma. Science 144: 1573-1575 (1964).
- 184. Smith, B. M., W. N. Grune, F. B. Higgins, Jr., et al., Natural radioactivity in ground water supplies in Maine and New Hampshire. J. Amer. Water Works Assoc. 53: 75-88 (1961).
- 185. Smith, K. A., P. G. Watson, Radium-226 in diet in the United Kingdom in 1963, pp. 79-80 in Agricultural Research Council Radiobiological Laboratory Annual Report 1963-64, ARCRL 12 (1964); v.e. United Nations document A/AC.82/ G/L.964.
- 186. Hallden, N. A., I. M. Fisenne, J. H. Harley, Radium-226 in diet and in human bone. Science 140: 1327-1329 (1963).
- 187. United States Atomic Energy Commission, Health and Safety Laboratory, Table 20—Annual radium-226 intake in tri-city diets, p. 42 in HASL Contributions to the Study of Fallout in Food Chains, HASL-147 (1964); v.e. United Nations document A/AC.82/G/L.959.
- 188. Michelson, I., Radium-226 in the total diet. Health Physics 5: 229-230 (1961).
- 189. Michelson, I., Radioisotopes in the 1963 diet. Health Physics 11: 56-60 (1965).
- 190. Hallden, N. A., J. H. Harley, Radium-226 in diet and human bone from San Juan, Puerto Rico. Nature 204: 240-241 (1964).
- 191. Turner, R. C., Discussion. p. 90 in Diagnosis and Treatment of Radioactive Poisoning. IAEA, Vienna, 1963.
- 192. Overton, T. R., P. R. J. Burch, A coincident gamma-ray spectrometer and its application to

measurements of low level radioactivity. Phys. Med. Biol. 11: 47-61 (1966).

- 193. Hill, C. R., Po<sup>210</sup> in man. Nature 208: 423-425 (1965).
- 194. Hill, C. R., Po<sup>210</sup>: a naturally occurring component of fall-out. Paper presented at the Symposium on Radioactivity in Scandinavia, Denmark, Risö, October, 1964.
- 195. Mercer, E. R., W. A. Mitchell, K. A. Smith, Absorption of radium by Brazil nuts, pp. 82-83 in Agricultural Research Council Radiobiological Laboratory, Annual report 1961-62, ARCRL 8; v.e. United Nations document A/AC.82/G/L.806.
- 196. Smith, K. A., Private communication.
- 197. Holtzman, R. B., The Pb<sup>210</sup> (RaD) concentrations of some biological materials from Arctic regions, pp. 59-69 in Argonne National Laboratory Annual Report, July 1962-June 1963, ANL-6769 (1963).
- 198. Hill, R. C., Po<sup>210</sup> content of human tissues in relation to dietary habit. Science 152: 1261-1262 (1966).
- 199. Kauranen, P., J. K. Miettinen, <sup>210</sup>Po and <sup>210</sup>Pb in environmental samples in Finland *in* University of Helsinki, Department of Radiochemistry Annual Report 1965. Helsinki, 1966.
- 200. Jacobi, W., The dose to the human respiratory tract by inhalation of short-lived <sup>222</sup>Rn- and <sup>220</sup>Rn-decay products. Health Physics 10: 1163-1174 (1964).
- 201. International Atomic Energy Agency, Radiological Health and Safety in Mining and Milling of Nuclear Materials, Proceedings of a Symposium in two volumes. IAEA, Vienna, 1964.
- 202. Servant, J., Temporal and spatial variations of the concentration of the short-lived decay products of Rn in the lower atmosphere. Symposium on Atmospheric Chemistry, Circulation and Aerosols, August 18-25 (1965), Visby, Sweden.
- 203. Stahlhofen, W., Measurement of the natural content of Th<sup>228</sup>, Ra<sup>226</sup>, and their daughters in the human body, pp. 505-519 in Assessment of Radioactivity in Man, vol. II. IAEA, Vienna, 1964.
- 204. Hursh, J. B., A. Lovaas, Radium-226 in bone and soft tissues of man. Nature 198: 265-268 (1963).
- 205. Mayneord, M. V., The natural radioactivity of the human body, pp. 2-24 in Progress in Biophysics and Biophysical Chemistry, vol. 11. Butler, J. A. V., B. Katz. R. E. Zirkle, eds., Pergamon Press, N.Y., 1961.
- 206. Rajewsky, B., L. E. Belloch-Zimmermann, W. Stahlhofen, Ra<sup>226</sup> in human embryonic tissue, relationship of activity to the state of pregnancy. The measurement of natural Ra<sup>220</sup> occurrence in the human placenta. Health Physics 11: 161-169 (1965).
- 207. Grummitt, W. E., Strontium and barium in bone and diet, pp. 376-380 in Radioactive Fallout from Nuclear Weapon Tests, Proceedings of a Conference held in Germantown, Maryland, Nov. 15-17, 1961, Book 2, TID-7632 (1962); v.e. United Nations document A/AC.82/G/L.776.
- 208. Holtzman. R. B., The source of unsupported Po<sup>210</sup> (RaF) in tissue. Letter to the editor. Health Physics 10: 763-764 (1964).

- 209. Hunt, V. R., E. P. Redford, Jr., A. I. Segall, Comparison of concentrations of alpha-emitting elements in teeth and bones. Int'l. J. Rad. Biol. 7: 277-287 (1963).
- 210. Stover, B. J., D. R. Atherton, C. W. Mays, Studies of the retention and distribution of Ra<sup>226</sup>, Pu<sup>239</sup>, Ra<sup>228</sup>, (MsTh<sub>1</sub>), Th<sup>225</sup>, (RdTh), and Sr<sup>90</sup> in adult beagles, pp. 7-25 in Some Aspects of Internal Irradiation. Dougherty, T. F., W. S. S. Jee, C. W. Mays, et al., eds., Pergamon Press, N.Y., 1962.
- 211. Stehney, A. F., Radioisotopes in the skeleton: naturally occurring radioisotopes in man, pp. 366-381 in Radioisotopes in the Biosphere. Caldecott, R. S., L. A. Snyder, eds., University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, Minn., 1960.
- 212. Hursh, J. B., Natural lead-210 content of man. Science 132: 1666-1667 (1960).
- 213. Groos, E., E. L. Sattler, W. Stahlhofen, Der Natürliche RaD und RaF Gehalt in Knochen des Menschen. Atomkernenergie 8: 32-33 (1963).
- 214. Osborne, R. V., Lead-210 and polonium-210 in human tissues. Nature 199: 295 only (1963).
- 215. Penna-Franca, E., Radiochemical and radioecological studies on Brazilian areas of high natural radiation (table IV). Progress report, April 30, 1965, vol. II. Universidade do Brasil.
- 216. Wallace, D. E., Th<sup>228</sup> and Ra<sup>226</sup> analyses of bones from Kerala, India, pp. 67-70 in Argonne National Laboratory Radiological Physics Division Semiannual Report, January through June 1961, ANL-6398 (1961).
- 217. Spiers, F. W., Dosimetry of radioisotopes in soft tissues and in bone, pp. 269-279 in Radiation Dosimetry. Reed, G. W., ed., Academic Press, N.Y., 1964.
- 218. Charlton, D. E., D. V. Cormack, Energy dissipation in finite cavities. Rad. Res. 17: 34-49 (1962).
- 219. Thomas, J., A method for calculation of the absorbed dose to the epithelium of the respiratory tract after inhalation of daughter products of radon. Amer. Occup. Hyg. 7: 271-284 (1964).
- 220. International Commission on Radiological Protection, Task Group on Lung Dynamics, Deposition and retention models for internal dosimetry of the human respiratory tract. Health Physics 12: 173-207 (1966).
- 221. Pohl, E., Dose distribution received on inhalation of Rn<sup>222</sup> and its decay products, pp. 231-236 in Radiological Health and Safety in Mining and Milling of Nuclear Materials, vol. I. IAEA, Vienna, 1964.
- 222. Kelley, T. F., Polonium-210 content of mainstream cigarette smoke. Science 149: 537-538 (1965).
- 223. Gregory, L. P., Polonium-210 in leaf tobacco from four countries. Science 150: 74-76 (1965).
- 224. Yavin, A. J., G. De Pasquali, P. Baron, Polonium in cigarettes—spectroscopic analysis. Nature 205: 899-900 (1965).
- 225. Tso, T. C., N. A. Hallden, L. T. Alexander, Radium-226 and polonium-210 in leaf tobacco and tobacco soil. Science 146: 1043-1045 (1964).
- 226. Turner, R. C., J. M. Radley, Naturally occurring alpha activity of cigarette tobaccos. Lancet i: 1197-1198 (1960).

à

- 227. Radford, E. P., V. R. Hunt, Polonium-210: a volatile radioelement in cigarettes. Science 143: 247-249 (1964).
- 228. Little, J. B., E. P. Radford, H. L. McCombs, et al., Polonium-210 in lungs and soft tissues of cigarette smokers. Rad. Res. 22:209 (1964). Abstract.
- Strominger, D., J. M. Hollander, G. T. Seaborg, Table of isotopes. Revs. Modern Phys. 30: 585-904 (1958).
- 230. Appendix 4. Properties of the uranium and thorium series, pp. 1033-1036 in The Natural Radiation Environment. Adams, J. A. S., W. M. Lowder, eds., The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Ill., 1964.
- 231. Mays, C. W., D. R. Atherton, R. D. Lloyd, et al., The half-period of Ra<sup>228</sup> (mesothorium), pp. 92-105 in Research in Radiobiology, Annual Report of Work in Progress on the Chronic Toxicity Program. Utah University, College of Medicine, report C00-225 (1962).
- 232. Pallister, E. T., J. H. Green, Radium-226 content of natural waters and coal in New South Wales. Nature 201: 813-814 (1964).
- 233. Roser, F. X., G. H. Kegel, L. Hainberger, et al., A study of artificial and natural radioactive contamination in Brazil. Instituto de Fisica, Pontificia Universidade Catolica, Rio de Janeiro, August 1, 1964.

- 234. Marsden, E., Radioactivity of some rocks, soils, plants, and bones, chap. 50, pp. 807-824 in The Natural Radiation Environment. Adams, J. A. S., W. M. Lowder, eds., The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Ill., 1964.
- 235. Edgar, W. F., Radium content of drinking water in the Central Savannah River area. E. I. Du Pont de Nemours & Co., report DPSPU 63-30-10 (1963).
- 236. Tanner, A. B., Physical and chemical controls on distribution of radium-226 and radon-222 in ground water near Great Salt Lake, Utah, chap. 14, pp. 253-276 in The Natural Radiation Environment. Adams, J. A. S., W. M. Lowder, eds., The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Ill., 1964.
- Jaworowski, Z. S., Content of radium D in human bones and hair. Nukleonika 10: 297-301 (1965).
- Hill, C. R., Z. S. Jaworowski, Lead-210 in some human and animal tissues. Nature 190: 353-354 (1961).
- 239. Hill, C. R., R. V. Osborne, W. V. Mayneord, Studies of alpha radioactivity in relation to man, pp. 395-405 in The Natural Radiation Environment. Adams, J. A. S., W. M. Lowder, eds., The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Ill., 1964.
- Holtzman, R. B., <sup>210</sup>Pb (RaD) in inhabitants of a Caribbean island. Health Physics 11: 477-480 (1965).
- 241. Lowder, W. M., Private communication.

